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Large photo: “Together, we’re stronger and can do a better job,” say Griselda Lopez and 
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in Santa Barbara, Honduras. Along with our partner organization OCDIH, they have drawn 
up a business plan and are now travelling round to various markets in the country. Photo: 
Ezequiel Sanches.
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HOW WE WORK
It is people who change the world.  
But how does this work? On pages 6–9 
and 54–59, we explain how we – along  
with around 350 partner organizations 
– are changing the world.

RESULTS OF THE WORK
On pages 12–26 and in 
the management report 
on page 27, you can read 
about the results of our 
work in 2017.

10
MEET DIAKONIA’S 
NEW SECRETARY 
GENERAL

12

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT 
Read about our approach 
to sustainability and 
accountability.

DIAKONIA’S FINANCES
On pages 29–30, 33–42 and 
57, you can find a detailed 
account of Diakonia’s  
finances.

Neither money nor ideas can change the world. But people 
who want to achieve something can. Courageous people 
have repeatedly shown us in 2017 that, if we join forces, 
we can, like water, wear away stones, even if it happens 
one drop at a time. We hope you will read our annual  
report from cover to cover. But if your time is limited,  
we have highlighted below some key pages where  
you can find more information about our activities.



Our vision is a 
just, equal and 
sustainable 
world. 

Our mission and overall goal is to change unfair  
political, economic, social and culture structures 
that generate poverty, inequality, oppression and 
violence. Diakonia works with the most vulnerable 
people, local partners and other strategic actors for 
the fulfilment of the right of all people to live a life in 
dignity irrespective of age, class, disability, ethnici-
ty, gender, nationality, political conviction, religion, 
or sexual orientation and identity. 

Vision and mission Vision and mission

Nget Khoun talks about how big fish used to swim in the beautiful lake in Cambodia. Now, there’s only sand and newly built luxury flats here. And 
the majority of the residents around the lake were evicted from their homes and land. But in 2016 Nget’s right to parts of her land was restored.
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It is people who 
are changing  
the world
More than half a century of change for a brighter future. We know 
that there’s no stronger driving force than people who are aware 
of their rights and join forces to organize themselves. That’s when 
things happen – and when change takes place. 

The drops of water that slowly wear away stones.  
A tired metaphor perhaps. But that’s exactly what 
we’re doing. “We” refers to everyone at Diakonia, 
the organizations we work with, the people who take 
part in our activities, those who are vulnerable and 
many others. Together, we are there on the ground 
over and over again, year after year. We remind, 
demand, emphasise and point out that all people 
everywhere are of equal worth. And there are many 
of us shouting this out loud on the streets, writing 
it clearly, teaching and explaining, over and over 
again. 

Half a century of experience. In 1966 India was 
hit by a severe drought. Some of Sweden’s free chur-
ches joined forces and organized a relief effort. And 
since then, supported by our principals the Swedish 
Alliance Mission and the Uniting Church in Sweden, 
we have been working to create a brighter future for 
people living in poverty, oppression and violence. 
For over fifty years, we have been building the global 
organization full of experts on change that we are 
today. 

Our recipe for change. What we have learned 
is that the most important drivers behind social 
change are people who are aware of their rights and 

organize themselves in order to claim these rights 
together. Our strategy for change is simple – the 
following three components must interact in order 
for it to take place: knowledge, organization and 
advocacy. Knowledge is a requirement if improve-
ments are to take place. Organization is required if 
we wish to join forces to achieve lasting change. It 
is only when we have knowledge and are organized 
that we can influence our situation. But we also 
know that reality is complex, which is why a deep 
understanding of the problems and context is requi-
red if we are to find smart solutions.

Close and local. Diakonia has country offices in 
23 out of the 25 countries in which we engage in 
long-term development cooperation and huma-
nitarian actions. In our four regions, Africa, Asia, 
Latin America and the Middle East, regional offices 
support the country offices. And our Head Office 
is in Stockholm. But most important of all is our 
cooperation with over 300 organizations. Orga-
nizations that on a daily basis encounter people 
living in poverty, who are oppressed and subject to 
discrimination. Together they analyse the problems 
and opportunities faced by people and build up 
their operations – with support, both financial and 
thematic, from us.

How we work How we work 

Large photo: “I play football with other young people in my area. We have a laugh and have fun. At half-time, I usually talk to them about women’s rights and how we can live 
without violence. They listen to me because we come from similar backgrounds and have had similar experiences,” says Jorge Isack Chow Serapio from Waspam, Nicaragua, 
who took part in our partner organization AMICA’s course on gender and violence.
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Six intervention areas. The overall goal of every- 
thing we do is a sustainable, equal and just world. 
To achieve this, we have drafted a global strategy 
with six intervention areas and a total of 21 global 
objectives. In order to realise this global strategy, 
we also have country and regional strategies. Our 
intervention areas are: Human rights, Democra-
cy, Gender equality, Social and economic justice, 
Conflict and justice, and Emergency response and 
disaster resilience. 

Quality all the way. Measuring how much closer 
we are to a sustainable, equal and just world today 
compared to last year, for example, is difficult. How 
can we measure the effect of the drops of water on 
the stone? We do this by following up on our strate-
gies at all levels of our organization and by learning 
from our mistakes. Often, the world changes in 
ways that we cannot predict, and we sometimes see 
earlier successes transformed into setbacks. When 
that happens, another important step in our quality 
work is to identify new, smart solutions so that 
we can once again achieve an effect. We also work 
continuously on analysing risks and challenges in 
order to be able to prevent any potential obstacles 
in the path. 

Close and long-term  
– a good partnership

We work to establish 
flexible, long-term 
relationships with all 
our partner organiza-
tions. Relationships 
based on common 

values, trust, honesty, shared responsibility 
and transparency. In order to ensure this, 
we rely on common guidelines and fra-
meworks, but fundamentally it is a question 
of establishing close, open dialogue. People 
living in poverty and vulnerability know very 
well what needs to change in order for their 
lives to improve. We have extensive know-
ledge of how change processes work, and 
we work together to find solutions. We have 
worked with many of our partner organi-
zations for a long time and look forward to 
continuing our work with them even further 
into the future.

How we work 

Our work, governed by our global strategy, is divided into six intervention areas, with 21 global objectives 
in total. Diakonia’s total operational expenses in 2017 amounted to SEK 461 million. Of this, 33 percent was 
used for the intervention area Democracy, 18 percent for Human rights, 21 percent for Gender equality, 17 
percent for Social and economic justice, 4 percent for Conflict and justice, and 7 percent for Emergency  
response and disaster resilience. Almost all the work that we and our partner organizations perform  
encompasses several areas and several objectives. On pages 12–26 you can read more about the results  
of our investments.

The UN’s 2030 Agenda with its 17 Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) aims to end all forms of  
poverty, fight inequalities and tackle climate change, while ensuring that no one is left behind. We have 
great potential to contribute to this work through our projects. On page 51 you can see which SDGs our 
various intervention areas have contributed to in 2017.

How we work 

Conflict and justice4%

33%

21%

18%

17%

7%

Democracy

Gender equality

Human rights

Social and economic justice

Emergency response and  
disaster resilience

“There’s a new Fatime. One who isn’t scared of anyone any more. Who says what she thinks and can speak for herself,” says Fatime Ahmad Burgur, who was 14 when she got 
married for the first time. She was subjected to assault and abuse on a daily basis for 12 years. She is one of the many women participants in our partner organization ABAAD’s 
activities to counteract gender-based violence in Lebanon.
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Name: Georg Andrén

Age: 58 år

Profession: Secretary General of 
Diakonia

Background: “I’ve worked in the same 
field throughout my entire professional 
career but in different places, inclu-
ding the Swedish Ministry for Foreign 
Affairs and the Swedish International 
Development Cooperation Agency. 
Before starting at Diakonia, I was 
the Swedish ambassador to Central 
America and lived in  
Guatemala.”

Family: Married, three adult children, 
has just become a grandfather!

Lives: In the forest in Sörmland, south-
west of Stockholm, on the border with 
Östergötland.

Interests: “I don’t have many hobbies, 
but I like being out in the countryside, 
being with my family and cooking.”  

Favourite dish to cook: Paella
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Meet Diakonia’s secretary general Meet Diakonia’s secretary general

Power and fear – a 
dangerous combination
I’ve been working with development issues for se-
veral decades, and what was evident last year is how 
much more difficult it has become to work for demo-
cratic participation, respect for human rights and the 
role of civil society. I started working as Diakonia’s 
Secretary General in September, and during 2017 I 
managed to visit four countries: Palestine, Bangla-
desh, Cambodia and Thailand. It is patently obvious 
that those representing power are afraid and strike 
back against on women’s movements, human rights 
defenders and civil society. The combination of power 
and fear is extremely dangerous. When authoritarian 
leaders get scared, they take steps to prohibit opposi-
tion parties, limit the opportunities of civil society to 
take action, and corrupt the justice system. Fear is a 
response to the movements and attempts to mobilise 
for freedom that we have witnessed in many parts of 
the world in recent years. Movements that challenge 
the claims to power of old leaders and elites. I expe-
rienced this personally when I lived in Guatemala.
 During a demonstration against the corruption 
scandals that had emerged, I saw a sign with the 
words “Nos han robado todo, hasta el miedo”, which 
means something like “they’ve stolen everything 
from us, even our fear”. In many parts of the world, 
people no longer have anything to lose, and this 
means that they are daring to defy those in power and 
gain ground, despite an increasingly tough climate. 
In Diakonia we are used to building capacity at or-

ganizations so that they can step up, claim democra-
tic space and give a voice to marginalised groups. In 
an increasingly tough climate, the organizations are 
being forced to change strategy, and this challenges 
our way of working. Diakonia must have the courage 
to take risks and adapt in step with organizations as 
they find new ways of working. While ensuring that 
organizations can protect themselves from violence, 
we need to support those who are brave enough to 
challenge the status quo.
 Diakonia’s strength is, and has always been, that we 
are there on the ground, working close to people and 
enjoying their confidence. This means that we can 
quickly latch on to these new initiatives and support 
them. But we also need agreements with financiers 
that provide us with funds and opportunities to take 
risks. Because despite the darkness in the world, we 
can see how people are continuing to fight for change, 
and this inspires us and gives us hope. And we will 
continue to support them in their work to make the 
world a brighter place.

PS One thing that makes me extra proud is our People 
Change the World initiative. It has made us better at 
talking about our work and established a deeper rela-
tionship between new donors and the people working 
for change, the people we support. A relationship that 
will become even deeper as time goes on. Read more 
about People Change the World on page 24.

2017 was the year when a new Secretary General was  
appointed at Diakonia. And also when we saw the space for 
democracy and human rights continue to shrink. But in  
spite of this, we and our partner organizations are finding 
new paths forward – paths of change.
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Human rights: 

45projects to empower human rights  
defenders. 28 projects for the fulfillment of women’s 
rights. 18 projects for the fulfillment of human rights  
commitments. 

Diakonia’s operational expenses totalled SEK 461 million, and of these 18 percent,  
i.e. SEK 83 million, were used for the intervention area Human rights. 

Global sustainability goals – read more on page 51. 

18%

Results for Human rightsResults for Human rights

H
uman rights: Last year the trend was clear. Pressure on human rights defenders is 
growing. We have seen people standing up for the equal value of all people being  
imprisoned, threatened and murdered. Political and economic elites are doing what 
they can to shrink the space for organizations working for human rights for all. But at 
the same time, we can see people who have had enough and who have acquired  

knowledge organizing themselves. Digitalisation has given people a greater ability to react quickly 
and vigorously. But at the same time, digital tools can be a surveillance weapon in the hands of the 
authorities. In this environment, we work to strengthen human rights defenders and respect for  
human rights, with particular focus on women’s rights. In 2017, along with our partner organiza-
tions, we continued to educate, mobilise and influence in the field of human rights. With human 
rights violations and restrictions on the rise, we are seeing how important it is to continue to have  
a presence and provide long-term support.

Support to the most exposed 

Results. It is shocking that the simple act of stan-
ding up for human rights can be associated with 
such grave danger. Over 300 human rights activists 
were killed around the world in 2017. At the same 
time, we are seeing increasing numbers of acti-
vists fighting for a larger number of issues in more 
countries. We need to protect them. In Hondu-
ras in 2013, our partner organizations started an 
emergency fund for exposed activists, supported 
by Diakonia. In 2017 the fund was able to provide 
protection for 125 human rights activists. Before 
and after last year’s turbulent elections, the emer-
gency fund took on a special role and was able to 
rapidly help those subjected to threats, surveillance, 
persecution and attacks. While the fund offers con-
crete protection to human rights activists, it works 
with other organizations to highlight the activists’ 
exposed situation.

New legislation to protect  
human rights defenders  

Results. Armed conflict is raging in Mali, and 
respect for human rights is low. For four years, 
work has been in progress on drafting proposals 
for legislation and raising the level of knowledge 
about human rights among politicians. At the 
start of 2017, our partner organization ODHP 
achieved results. New legislation to protect 
human rights defenders was adopted. “When the 
law is approved, it will give us access to areas to 
investigate and gather in data on human rights 
violations, particularly in central Mali where 
people are extremely frustrated about their situ-
ation. The state will be bound to protect us,” says 
Abdou Sekou from ODHP, which is now continu-
ing its advocacy work to ensure that the legisla-
tion is implemented. 

New platform for young  
people with disabilities

Results. 2017 was the year of the first national 
conference for young people with disabilities 
in Palestine. The aim was to activate the young 
people and give them greater opportunities to in-
fluence their daily life so that it can be adapted to 
their needs. Representatives from the Palestinian 
authorities took part, pledging among other things 
to employ a person who speaks fluent sign  
language at each ministry.

Large photo: In the Karen village Khunn Mae Tuan in Thailand, our partner organizations work to help ethnic minorities obtain legal status in the country. Photo: Sean Dalton.

150 young people came together in Ramallah in December to discuss the needs of 
young disabled Palestinians and how these needs can be met.
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Democracy: 

86projects for a democratic culture. 

Diakonia’s operational expenses totalled SEK 461 million, and of these 33 percent, i.e. SEK 152 million, 
were used for the intervention area Democracy. 

Global sustainability goals – read more on page 51. 

15 projects for enabling environment for civil society.  
21 projects for good governance. 9 projects for women’s 
political participation. 

33%

Results for DemocracyResults for Democracy

D
emocracy. We are in a global democratic decline, and we are seeing the democratic 
space shrink in most countries in which Diakonia operates. Even if there are bright 
spots where crucial work on accountability and transparency is achieving results and 
becoming increasingly important, at times in 2017 it has proved difficult to achieve the 
goals of our work on democracy. In many cases, we cannot even talk about what we 

do. That would expose those we are working with to excessive risk. None of the countries we work in 
are classed as real democracies, according to the Economist’s Democracy Index. In several countri-
es we are seeing repressive governments use political, legal and administrative tools to make things 
difficult for civil society. Governing parties in countries with imminent elections are doing all they 
can to retain power. And this dangerous trend primarily affects those who already have the least 
power in society, such as women, indigenous peoples and young people.  

Challenging men in power 

Results. Increasing women’s participation in local 
politics in Zimbabwe was the goal of our partner 
organization Wipsu when they began their work 
two years ago. In 2017 we could see clear results. By 
establishing women’s forums and dialogue between 
them and local political groups, women are now re-
presented to a greater extent and take part in politi-
cal processes and decisions. In the areas where the 
projects are rolled out, representation has increa-
sed from 38 percent in 2016 to 48 percent. What 
is even more crucial is that we can also see that the 
decisions being made include a focus on women’s 
rights. For example, in Masvingo province, after 
women had the chance to take part in the budget 
debate on the 2018 annual budget, the decision was 
made to build a maternity clinic. And the province 
has adopted a gender equality policy to make sure 
that all community leaders actively ensure that 
women take part in decision-making processes. 

Digital platform holds  
President accountable

Results. In Burkina Faso, 
citizens are fighting active-
ly against corruption and 
for greater transparency. 
The digital platform, 
Présimètre, has been de-
veloped in order to ensure 

that politicians can be held accountable. On it, the 
government’s development plan is followed up re-
gularly, and citizens can learn more about the work 
of various authorities. Présimètre allows users to 
track, for example, how sub-goals in the country’s 
education plan are being implemented and report 
on whether they consider that the government is 
keeping its promises. In autumn 2017 the platform 
received the Digital Award for Transparency from 
Transparency International.

Results. In 2017 corruption scandals continued 
to be exposed in Guatemala while the economic 
and political elites made many attempts to inhibit 
demands for accountability and transparency, 
including to deport the Commissioner of the UN’s 
International Commission against Impunity in 
Guatemala (CICIG), Iván Velásquez Gómez. The 
population has protested against corruption and 
in support of CICIG. With the aim to strengthen 
democracy and the rule of law, Diakonia’s part-
ner organizations worked with dissemination of 
information and support of active participation, 
including at international level. 

Impressive mobilisation 
when democracy is on 

shaky ground
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Large photo: Concilia Mlalazi and Tamani Moyo have made their presence felt in politics in Zimbabwe after having participated in leadership training and workshops on 
political participation with our partner organization WILD. Small photo, top right: Hackathon in Burkina Faso.
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Gender equality: 

61projects to combat gender based  
violence. 22 projects for sexual and reproductive 
health and rights. 9 projects for LGBTI peoples’ rights. 

Diakonia’s operational expenses totalled SEK 461 million, and of these 21 percent, i.e. SEK 97 million,  
were used for the intervention area Gender equality. 

Global sustainability goals – read more on page 51. 

21%

Results for Gender equalityResults for Gender equality

G
 ender equality. We will be living in a gender-equal world in 90 years’ time accor- 
 ding to UNDP if the fight for gender equality continues at the same pace as  
 today. And we know that women’s rights and LGBTI organizations are the most  
 crucial in terms of driving the work forward. But when political and economic  
 elites restrict the opportunities of civil society to work for the equal value of all 

people, these organizations are hit the hardest. Attacks against sexual and reproductive rights 
continue, and women are underrepresented in politics and decision-making positions. We are 
also seeing increased militarisation in many of the countries in which we work creating de-
structive gender roles and turning women’s bodies into targets. Diakonia’s goal is to contribute 
to changes in power relationships between women and men, to the opportunity of all people to 
influence their lives and communities, and to changing patriarchal structures. The work we do 
together with our local partner organizations is more important than ever. 

A safe space in the  
face of prejudice

Results. In Peru our partner organization LIFS 
creates safe spaces where trans, lesbian, gay and 
non-binary young people can discuss various gen-
der equality issues. This is crucial work in a country 
where society is still homophobic and hate crimes 
occur frequently. “The course has been very impor-
tant to me. Previously, I didn’t understand that I 
was entitled to be who I am. That there’s nothing 
wrong with me,” says Lourdes Chambi Chiara. LIFS 
is a key actor in Peru’s gender equality work. When 
in 2017 it was time for the government of Peru to 
submit a report on the country’s work on gender 
equality to the UN, LIFS was one of the organiza-
tions that wrote a shadow report, where they pre-
sented their view of the government’s work. They 
also performed important advocacy work at various 
embassies in Peru to put pressure on countries to 
support the recommendations. The shadow report 
resulted in 18 recommendations from the UN on 
how Peru’s government should continue its work on 
safeguarding the rights of LGBTI people.

Right to abortion – from 
legislation to practice

Results. In order to reduce the high level of mortali-
ty during pregnancy and childbirth, Mozambique de-
criminalised abortion under certain circumstances in 
2015. But simply changing the law was not sufficient. 
Since that time, our partner organization AMMCH 
and others have been working to raise awareness 
of the legislation and influence the law determining 
the conditions for when and how abortions may be 
carried out at clinics. The legislation was finalised 
in 2017 and care providers are obliged to comply 
with it. This means that the law is not only changing 
things in theory but also in practice. 

Men against violence  
against women

Results. Gender-based violence is closely linked 
to attitudes and tradition. We work around the 
world to increase awareness and change attitu-
des towards gender-based violence. In 2017 our 
partner organization WON in Myanmar/Burma 
organized workshops at which over 1,300 people 
were trained in gender equality issues. “I now 
understand that gender-based violence has a huge 
influence on the lives of women and children, and 
I believe that we all have a responsibility to stop 
the violence,” says Saw Neldar. He is one of several 
men, and women, working as a volunteer after  
having taken part in the training. In addition to 
training, WON organizes meetings with various 
actors to place gender equality issues on the  
agenda.

Large photo: Mercedez Cruz, from Asociación Civil Humanidad Libre in Arequipa, Peru (part of our partner organization LIFS) is seen here taking part in a demonstration for 
women’s rights.

Saw Neldar in Myanmar/Burma is engaged in gender equality issues and is trying to 
raise people’s awareness.
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Social and economic justice: 

47projects for fair distribution of wealth 
and access to natural resources. 19 projects for eco-
nomic empowerment of women. 12 projects for decent 
work and fair income. 14 project for sustainable deve-
lopment and climate justice.

Diakonia’s operational expenses totalled SEK 461 million, and of these 17 percent, i.e. SEK 78 million,  
were used for the intervention area Social and economic justice. 

Global sustainability goals – read more on page 51. 

17%

Results for Social and economic justiceResults for Social and economic justice

S
 ocial and economic justice. Work on reducing extreme poverty is continuing to produce  
 results. But at the same time, we are seeing widening gaps and those who are already  
 vulnerable have less chance to exert an influence. 82 percent of the increase in wealth  
 was enjoyed by the richest one percent of the world’s population last year, while the  
 the poorest half of the world saw no increase at all. The differences between men’s and 

women’s economic participation continue to be great. We at Diakonia wish to see a fair distribution 
of wealth and access to natural resources, as well as an increase in the economic empowerment 
of women. Also, people should have access to a fair income and decent work while ensuring sus-
tainable development that incorporates climate justice. In order to succeed, we work in areas such 
as sustainable farming that can be adapted to climate change, innovative opportunities to make a 
living and education in labour law.

Women in the mining  
industry fighting poverty  

Results. In Kenya in 2016, progressive legislation 
was endorsed that legalises small-scale mining 
operations, which has improved the work situation 
for many miners. Several of our partner organiza-
tions work with conveying knowledge of the law so 
that it is implemented and the mining industry can 
develop sustainably. A crucial stage in this work 
is organizing miners so that they can collectively 
demand their rights, and engaging in dialogue with 
local authorities and international companies. Our 
partner organization GROOTS focuses in particu-
lar on women miners. Through mentorship and 
training, they ensure that women also have a place 
in the development of the industry. In 2017 they 
helped miners in Kakamega to organize themselves 
so that they can build up sustainable finances while 
gaining knowledge of their rights. 

“When GROOTS came here, we women didn’t 
even have the right to stand near the mines; 
instead, we had to buy the stone a short distance 
away from them. But now that they’re organizing 
training in our rights that the men are also invited 
to, things have started to change,” says Mary Alawa-
ni, one of the project participants.

Efficient work  
on transparency

Results. In 2017 the municipal commission in 
Solwezi, Zambia decided that ten percent of its 
budget should go to initiatives benefitting the 
areas and people most affected by the mining 
industry. This is a result of the extensive work of 
our partner organizations. They have worked to 
expand the dialogue between citizens, companies 
and local authorities. A fantastic step to increase 
investments in the poorest people and to ensure 
transparency and accountability.

Participation is the key
Results. In the areas where our partner orga-
nization CIPCA works in Bolivia, poverty is rife. 
Through training in fields such as marketing, 
sustainable farming and adapting to climate 
change, they have involved the local population in 
finding new sources of income. The project parti-
cipants have taken part in several ways, which has 
strengthened the citizens’ independence. After the 
project, the income of participants increased by an 
average of 15 percent.

Large photo: Fanice lives in Kakamega, Kenya and dreams of building her own house. Right now, she is saving in a savings and loan association for miners that receives  
support from our partner organization GROOTS. GROOTS works for a sustainable mining industry while empowering women in the industry. Photo: Fredrik Lerneryd.

Josephine Liabule Mukhobi is a miner fighting for a brighter future. Photo: Fredrik 
Lerneryd.

Luocadia Uracay is one of the leaders in Yaguarú where she lives and she is one of 
the participants in CIPCA’s project in Bolivia.
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Conflict and justice: 

16projects for peacebuilding. 4 projects 
for protection in armed conflict. 1 project for policy 
coherence for peace.  

Diakonia’s operational expenses totalled SEK 461 million, and of these 4 percent, i.e. SEK 18 million,  
were used for the intervention area Conflict and justice. 

4%
Global sustainability goals – read more on page 51. 

Results for Conflict and justiceResults for Conflict and justice

C
 onflict and justice. In 2017 the world was faced with several complex armed conflicts,  
 with people fleeing for their lives. Strong political and economic interests, religious  
 tensions and organized crime are some of the factors that exacerbate conflicts and  
 hamper any mediation attempts. At global level, extreme poverty continues to be  
 concentrated in areas affected by conflict. Countries in conflict are also more vulne-

rable when natural disasters and other crises hit. Our work focuses on boosting respect for inter-
national humanitarian law and human rights, both in peacetime and during conflict. We work with 
organizations that prevent conflicts and run peace-building initiatives, and also work to include wo-
men in peace processes. Despite the trend of an increasing number of armed conflicts, we can also 
see positive examples of peace processes in which the role of women is crucial, and of mediation 
where actors from various parts of society are engaged in order to guarantee an inclusive peace.

Strong focus on gender 
equality in the peace  

agreement  
Results. In 2017 it finally happened. The peace 
agreement between the government and the FARC 
guerrilla in Colombia came into force. During the 
peace negotiations, our partner organization Sisma 
Mujer played an important role in including wo-
men’s perspectives. Their advocacy work, along with 
the work of other women’s rights organizations, led 
to 100 measures that secured a gender perspective 
in the peace agreement. During the year, they have 
been working actively on spreading information and 
engaging in dialogue with a broad group of actors. 
At the same time, the path to peace continues to 
be littered with challenges. In the Chocó area, the 
departure of the FARC guerrilla has left space for 
other illegal armed groups and instead of peace, this 
has led to continued tension and serious abuse. Our 
partner organizations Fisch and Cocomacia, along 
with others, drafted a proposal for a humanitarian 
agreement, the results of which included a three- 
month ceasefire between the ELN guerrilla and the 
state in the entire country and a greater focus on 
humanitarian aspects.

Warning systems  
counteract conflicts

Results. Sri Lanka’s peace efforts have continu-
ed following the end of the protracted civil war 
in 2009, but ethnic and religious tensions and 
conflicts are easily ignited. Our partner organiza-
tion MWRAF has built up early warning systems 
that solve conflicts before they escalate into violent 
conflicts. In the Ampara area, a group of Muslim 
and Tamil women have been provided with greater 
knowledge of peace building and conflict preven-
tion. When they hear rumours of tension arising, 
they meet and intervene at an early stage to find 
peaceful solutions so that violence and conflict do 
not break out. 

For their right to land

Results. In Paraguay, 
inequality in terms of the 
division of land and econo-
mic resources is extreme. 
In the north of the country, 

conflict regarding the right to land has existed for 
a long time, with the involvement of a number of 
armed actors and extended powers for the military. 
Despite constant threats, landless farmers continue 
to farm the land they have lived and worked on for 
decades. This land has been illegally sold by the 
state. Our partner organization Servicio de Paz y 
Justicia works tirelessly to document and spread 
information on human rights violations. They also 
offer farmers legal support so that they can pursue 
their cases in national and international courts in 
order to gain the legal right to their land.

Large photo: Near the village of Caldono in Colombia lies one of the zones where the FARC guerrilla handed over its weapons and now lives, to be reintegrated into society. 
Here, our partner organization Comunitar works on conveying knowledge about women’s rights. Small photo, right: Elida Gimenez, 28, lives in Guahory, Paraguay, with her 
three children. She is landless but along with other squatters, she has taken back her land after several years of struggle.

Olga Truque, Nulvany Munoz, Marcela Cabrera and Loly Peralta Ivarra from our 
partner organization Fundecima in Colombia.
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Emergency response  
and disaster resilience: 

9projects for preparedness, relief and recovery.  
4 projects for disaster risk management.

Diakonia’s operational expenses totalled SEK 461 million, and of these 7 percent, i.e. SEK 32 million,  
were used for the intervention area Emergency response and disaster resilience.

Bangladesh Emergency humanitarian assistance for Bur-
mese citizens forced to flee to Bangladesh, and psychoso-
cial support for children in refugee camps. Partner: UTSA, 
24 months, SEK 550,000 (2017). Sector: protection and 
psychosocial support.

Burkina Faso Increased resilience among 2,445 people in 
various areas in Burkina Faso that are regularly exposed 
to climate-related crises such as drought. Partner: ATAD, 
18 months, SEK 180,000 (2017) (total of MSEK 2.2). Sector: 
disaster preparedness.

Cuba Emergency humanitarian assistance for 7,500 people 
affected by Hurricane Irma. Partner: CIC, 15 months, SEK 
200,000 (2017) (total of SEK 675,000). Sector: food and 
disaster preparedness.

Kenya Emergency humanitarian assistance for 3,600 
people affected by drought. Partner: ADS, 3 months, SEK 
900,000. Sector: food. 

Lebanon Legal and psychosocial support to 1,900 refugees 
of Palestinian origin in Lebanon, focusing on women. Part-
ner: Najdeh, 17 months, SEK 1,100,000 (2017) (total of SEK 
1,630,000). Sector: protection.

Lebanon Psychosocial, health and legal support and 
education for 1,500 people in Lebanon, focusing on women/
girls subjected to gender-based violence. Partner: ABAAD, 17 
months, SEK 1,050,000 (2017). Sector: protection.

Lebanon Legal and psychosocial support for 150 wo-
men who have fled from Syria to Lebanon to counteract 
gender-based violence. Partner: ABAAD, 6 months, SEK 
450,000. Sector: protection.

Myanmar/Burma Strengthening humanitarian capacity 
and resilience among 6,991 people in Myanmar/Burma 
regularly affected by climate-related crises. Partner: KBC, 6 
months, SEK 370,000. Sector: disaster preparedness. 

Somalia Emergency humanitarian assistance for 14,400 
people affected by the severe drought. Partner: KAD, 12 
months, SEK 4,300,000. Sector: food and water. 

Thailand Humanitarian assistance for 100,000 refugees 
from Myanmar/Burma in nine refugee camps in Thailand. 
Partner: TBC, 12 months, SEK 9,300,000. Sector: food, nutri-
tion and shelter.

7%

Global sustainability goals – read more on page 51. 

Results for Emergency response and disaster resilienceResults for Emergency response and disaster resilience

E
mergency response and disaster resilience. Drought in Somalia, Rohingya people fleeing 
to Bangladesh, the Syria crisis. It is clearer than ever that the world is facing major huma-
nitarian challenges. Climate change and internal conflicts are causing flows of refuge-
es that are creating pressure – locally, regionally and globally. We are exploiting our 
strength as a long-term actor, focusing on human rights and working with our humanita-

rian partner organizations to find the best ways to save lives, reduce suffering and offer support 
when crises hit. We also work on preventive measures to make organizations and countries resi-
lient, through climate-smart farming techniques in areas affected by drought, for example. When 
disaster strikes, we often work with the ACT Alliance, of which we are members. With support from 
several fellow members, we are able to carry out initiatives that make a great impact in both the 
short and the long term.

Reduced suffering in 
drought-afflicted Somalia
Results. In recent years, climate change has meant 
that it has rained less and less in Somalia. The 
severe drought has destroyed crops and grazing 
land, and in 2017 the situation was critical. Several 
hundred thousand people were in acute need of 
food and water. In Badhan we have worked with 
democracy and human rights, but when the effects 
of the drought became increasingly serious, we 
switched over to offering humanitarian assistance 
with our partner organization KAD. Together with 
the ACT Alliance, we were able to act quickly and 
provide around 15,000 people with water, food and 
personal care items during the year. At the same 
time, we are continuing to work with people and 
local authorities to plan and spread knowledge 
on how they can be more resilient when the next 
drought comes.

Bus tour against  
gender-based violence  

Results. A bus loaded with healthcare, psychosocial 
support and knowledge of gender-based violence 
travelled around Lebanon, visiting villages and 
refugee camps. Poor finances and vulnerability 
increase the risk of forced marriage and domestic 
violence. These problems have accelerated in Leba-
non, especially among those who fled from Syria. 
To reach remote areas, our partner organization 
ABAAD started a project with a mobile unit that 
provided 2,713 women with psychosocial support 
and healthcare in 2017. 
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Large photo: Several million people in East Africa were affected by drought in 2017, and the situation in Somalia was alarming. Diakonia was there to ensure access to food 
and water.
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In 2017 we launched a new communication 
and fundraising concept. “People Change the 
World” presents a clear message that enables 
us to involve more new donors in smart solutions 
to major problems.
 Individuals and congregations in Sweden contri-
bute towards the financing of all Diakonia activities. 
Our dialogue with this important target group has 
two aims: to increase awareness of and commit-
ment to Diakonia’s work for a better world, and to 
invite people to take part in this work. 

In this way, we lay the foundations for Diakonia’s 
work and ensure long-term and secure financing. 
In 2017 we focused on developing a new way of 
presenting our activities in order to attract more 
new supporters. We need to constantly refine how 

we talk about and present our work so that we con-
tinue to be relevant to those who already know us, 
and to new target groups. In our fundraising con-
cept People Change the World, we highlight three 
of all our hundreds of projects in the world, giving 
donors a chance to get closely acquainted with the 
project and its people.

In our digital channels, donors get to follow girls 
learning to ride bicycles in Bangladesh, women 
organizing savings and loan associations in Kenya 
and activists fighting for gender-equal legislation in 
Lebanon. During the year, it also became clear that 
the donation process needs to be simple. Swish has 
become an important channel, particularly for our 
disaster fundraising for the victims of drought in 
Somalia and Rohingya people fleeing in Bangladesh.

Over 6,600 people signed Diakonia’s petition to 
prevent Swedish arms exports to dictatorships 
and countries that seriously violate human 
rights. The petition was handed over to the 
Swedish Ministry for Foreign Affairs. Our ad-
vocacy work continues to ensure that Swedish 
policy stands up for human rights and sustai-
nable development.
 The decisions of Swedish politicians affect the 
world both positively, in the form of developme-
nt cooperation, and negatively, such as through 
Swedish arms exports. We are working steadfastly 
to highlight this at meetings with congregations, 
in conversations with politicians and in campaigns 
with our activists. Arms exports in particular were 
the focus of our advocacy work in 2017. During 
the year, the Swedish government was to present 
new rules for Swedish military equipment exports, 
which gave us a unique opportunity to exert an 
influence. We raised the issue in debate articles, 
meetings with politicians and networks, at semi-
nars and in our digital channels. The response was 
huge, with over 6,600 people signing the petition 
to stop Swedish arms exports to dictatorships. We 

had the chance to hand over the signatures to the
Swedish Ministry for Foreign Affairs who promi-
sed to continue the discussion with Diakonia on 
arms exports.

As a country and EU Member State, Sweden 
is an incredibly important development coope-
ration actor, and through our advocacy work, we 
are fighting to ensure that this remains the case. 
But development cooperation is just one way that 
Sweden influences sustainable development in the 
countries in which we operate. Every day, Swedish 
politicians, companies, investors and consumers 
make decisions that have a global impact. Our role 
is to make sure that they understand this and act 
in the best way possible.

People Change the World  
gets people involved

Thousands of Swedes took a 
stand against arms exports

Why do we work in Sweden? The aim of our work in Sweden is 
to spread knowledge of global challenges and the development 
work we do. We work to increase support for Diakonia, for ex-
ample by involving people in campaigns and encouraging them 
to give us donations. We also work broadly on advocacy to en-
sure that Swedish politicians and Swedish policy put the rights 
perspective and the perspective of people living in poverty first.

Banks that have been scrutinised in our Fair Finance Guide project have become 5% better at meeting the 

requirements of their sustainability policies (47% to 52%). In 2017  11548 supporters made contributions to 

Diakonia. Diakonia got a total of 3887 new donors and 1007 new text message activists during the year.

Our work in Sweden Our work in Sweden

Pictures from our summer campaign for People Change the World. Photo: Frida Lenholm Illustration commenting on Swedish arms exports. The picture on the right is from a campaign by Diakonia activists against Swedish arms exports to dictatorships. Photo: David Ahnstedt
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General information about operations. Diakonia 
(corporate identity number 802017-3517) is a 
Swedish faith-based development organization that 
works for a just, sustainable and equal world free 
from poverty, oppression, injustice and violence. 
We are convinced that the most important drivers 
behind social change are people being aware of their 
rights and organizing themselves to jointly claim 
these rights. Our principals are the Christian de-
nominations the Swedish Alliance Mission and the 
Uniting Church in Sweden. Diakonia works using a 
rights-based approach with long-term developme-
nt cooperation, emergency response and advocacy 
work. We work with around 350 locally and popu-
larly rooted movements, faith communities and or-
ganizations in 25 countries around the world. Dia-
konia is a member of the ACT Alliance, a coalition 
of churches and development organizations that 
works in 140 countries across the globe. Together 
we constitute a worldwide network of people who 
strive for sustainable change for those living in po-
verty, oppression and violence. Our activities are 
funded by grants from Sida (Swedish International 
Development Cooperation Agency), the EU, Radio-
hjälpen, the Swedish Postcode Lottery and other do-
nors. Congregations and individual donors support 
Diakonia’s activities through donations. Diakonia 
carries out fundraising campaigns through various 
channels, such as fundraising letters, and has a ‘90 
account’ — a special account approved and monito-
red by Swedish Fundraising Control. 

Significant events during the year. In 2017 Dia-
konia carried out an external evaluation to see how 
the effects of decentralisation of functions and re-
sponsibility from its Head Office to regional and 
country offices have developed the organization. The 
evaluation indicates several challenges for the orga-
nization and a need to clarify certain focal areas. But 
it also shows that the goals set when decentralisation 
began over 10 years ago have largely been achieved. 
The positive results that can be observed include gre-
ater proximity to partner organizations and financi-
ers, and the fact that Diakonia’s programmes have 
been strengthened and their relevance increased in 
the countries where Diakonia has operations.

Diakonia started a global programme to advance 
its work on international humanitarian law (IHL). 
The programme, based on experiences from our IHL 
centre in Jerusalem, was launched with two new re-
source centres in Beirut, Lebanon (works with Syria) 
and Bamako, Mali. These new resource centres, and 
the resource centre in Jerusalem, are coordinated by 
a global coordinator located at Head Office in Stock-
holm. We launched a new concept for communica-
tion and fundraising, People Change the World, with 
the aim of increasing awareness of and commitment 
to Diakonia’s work for a better world and inviting 
people to take part in this work. Through People 
Change the World, Diakonia wishes to lay the foun-
dations for work on change, globally and in Sweden, 
and to ensure long-term and secure financing. Georg 
Andrén was appointed new Secretary General of Dia-

Annual accounts

Management report

Diakonia’s Board of Directors and Secretary General  
hereby submit the following annual accounts for 2017.

Annual accounts

Those without legal status in Thailand may not study at university, travel 
freely in the country or work in the profession of their choice. Along with 
several local partner organizations, we are working to spread knowledge to 
ethnic minorities about their right to citizenship. Work has been in progress 
for several years, and in 2017 5,719 people from various ethnic minorities 
received Thai citizenship, including 15-year-old Wakulu, who has now re-
ceived an ID card and is determined to become a teacher in the future. 

Wakulu now  
dares to dream 

about the future

Results
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konia when Bo Forsberg, who was in the post for 23 
years, retired. Bo Forsberg has been greatly signifi-
cant to the development of the organization and has 
passed on a solid and dynamic organization to the 
new leadership. Diakonia’s new Secretary General 
has sound experience of development work and great 
potential to lead Diakonia in the forthcoming period.

External factors affecting the organization. The 
shrinking democratic space for civil society is still one 
of the major obstacles to development. We are seeing 
political and economic power elites attempting to si-
lence and intimidate political opposition, civil society 
and free media using increasingly blatant methods. 
This has affected our work in almost all countries in 
which we operate. The year was characterised by po-
litical instability, with a weakened UN and a politi-
cal and economic power shift from north to east. The 
global shift in values towards increased populism and 
isolationism is spreading in several countries. Also in 
Europe, we are seeing democracy being undermi-
ned. The EU has been weakened and factors such as 
Brexit shifted the focus away from key political iss-
ues. Sweden is included in this global shift in values, 
which makes it even more important to highlight iss-
ues of global accountability and key values regarding 
the equal value of all people and human rights here, 
too. One positive event was that Sweden took its seat 
on the UN Security Council and can thus exert grea-
ter influence on global politics at a time when respect 
for human rights is declining.

The number of armed conflicts increased, and 
several of the world’s worst humanitarian crises are 
taking place in countries where Diakonia has opera-
tions, or where operations are affected by conflicts 
in neighbouring countries, for example the Demo-
cratic Republic of the Congo, Myanmar/Burma and 
Bangladesh, Syria and the Sahel region. Conflicts and 
extreme weather events have led to 130 million pe-
ople all over the world being in need of humanitarian 
assistance, and a large number of people are fleeing. 
The international community is still failing to find so-
lutions and is stuck in political deadlocks.

Human rights defenders and human rights orga-
nizations working for women’s, indigenous peop-
les’ and LGBTI people’s rights and/or on land and 
natural resource issues are some of the most ex-
posed groups. At the same time, we have seen new 

forms of mobilisation and organization, often new 
groupings that have mobilised via social media. 
During the year’s UN Climate Change Conference in 
Bonn (COP23), the world’s countries adopted a plan 
for moving the work on gender equality in the Paris 
Agreement forward, and a plan for how indigenous 
peoples could take part in climate negotiations. In 
many ways, COP23 put the spotlight on those most 
vulnerable to the effects of climate change and who-
se experiences and solutions rarely take centre stage 
in climate negotiations. The platform for indigenous 
peoples and what is known as the Gender Action Plan 
are to strengthen the opportunities of indigenous pe-
oples and women to take part in climate negotiations 
and provide a perspective that otherwise tends to be 
overlooked in these contexts. 

In 2017 the United States of America reinstated 
what is known as the global gag rule (formally the 
Mexico City Policy), which prevents organizations 
from receiving American health assistance if as part 
of their activities they offer, provide advice on, refer 
women for or recommend abortion.

Operations and results. All work carried out by 
Diakonia is governed by our global strategy for 2015–
2020 and by specific regional and country strategies. 
The activities carried out in country programmes can 
have different financiers and consist of one or more 
projects. The projects are carried out in partnership 
with local organizations and strategic actors, and 
together we create change for a just, equal and sus-
tainable world. Diakonia provides financial support 
and works closely with the organizations in their own 
capacity development and mobilisation of resources. 
Our partnership is also about supporting the orga-
nizations with knowledge and creating synergies 
between our various partner organizations national-
ly, regionally and globally. Despite a tougher climate 
for human rights defenders, it is possible to see po-
sitive effects in 2017. Above all, we can see that our 
long-term work is achieving clear results that are only 
measurable after a long period of time.

When the democratic space shrinks and activists 
become targets, documentation is a key tool in ma-
king problems visible. In Nicaragua, several of our 
partner organizations work under the leadership of 
CENIDH on supporting and strengthening human 
rights defenders, especially on issues regarding indi-
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genous people’s rights, the environment and the right 
to land. Part of their work is to document the violent 
crimes and threats that activists are subjected to and 
to support the victims in the process of reporting cri-
me. At the same time, they perform crucial advocacy 
work at international level.

Gender-based violence continues to be a challenge 
in many of the countries in which we work, and se-
veral of our partner organizations work on spreading 
knowledge of women’s rights, talking to and influen-
cing local authorities and politicians to ensure that 
they take their responsibility, and strengthening wo-
men so that they can demand their rights. In Sri Lan-
ka our partner organization has mobilised grassroots 
women in a network that has provided over 80,000 
people with information on the consequences of gen-
der-based violence. From this network, 13 women 
have also been nominated for the local elections in 
2018. Another example is Cambodia, where our part-
ner organization GADC has created a network for 
men who train leaders in gender justice and the work 
against gender-based violence. These leaders then go 
on to train additional future leaders.

In Bangladesh, along with several ACT members, 
we started a project to support vulnerable Rohingya 
people, who fled from Myanmar/Burma, by providing 
tents and blankets. In addition to distributing neces-
sities, our local partner organization UTSA also pro-
vides psychosocial support, particularly to children in 
refugee camps. Despite having had to focus on a num-
ber of emergency response initiatives in 2017, we also 
prioritized preventive work. Along with our partner 
organization ATAD in Burkina Faso, we are working 
to ensure that local authorities include a disaster pre-
vention perspective in their development plans. In the 
Gorom-Gorom area, the local authority has allotted 
SEK 60,000 of its annual budget to purchasing food 
for vulnerable groups and thus avoiding an acute food 
shortage situation during drought periods.

A large part of Diakonia’s work focuses on initiati-
ves for social and economic justice. In the Democra-
tic Republic of the Congo, for example, our partner 
organization CRONGD KC has worked to prevent 
land rights disputes by organizing villages in local 
committees. Because they have a strong local presen-
ce and work in the best interests of the entire area, 
they became key actors in preventing and peacefully 
solving conflicts in 2017.

In Sweden, too, Diakonia is working actively to rea-
lise the vision of a just, equal and sustainable world. 
The work is being carried out through informing 
and engaging people, and through opinion building 
and advocacy work. In 2017 our 41 activists talked to 
5,293 people about Swedish arms exports, 4,350 of 
whom chose to sign our petition. We acquired 1,007 
new text message activists and organized trips for 
members of the Swedish Parliament to Cambodia 
and Palestine and Israel. A key aspect of our work 
in Sweden is to highlight and make space for voices 
from around the world that would not otherwise have 
been heard. This is what we focus on in social media. 
We also invited representatives from partner organi-
zations in Cambodia, Guatemala, Honduras, Pales-
tine, Israel, Zimbabwe and Colombia to Sweden. In 
Sweden, they met congregations, journalists, politi-
cians and the general public to highlight key issues 
from their countries and contexts.

Performance and financial position

In 2017, Diakonia’s revenue increased, totalling SEK 
506 million. The increase of around SEK 56 million 
is due among other things to increased grants from 
Swedish embassies in Africa, totalling SEK 42 mil-
lion. 91 percent of the revenue for the year 2017 was 
used for operations and totalled SEK 461 million.

Raised funds for 2017 totalled SEK 63.2 million, 
which was SEK 10.9 million more than budgeted and 
an increase of SEK 8.7 million over 2017. This increa-

  Revenues Operational  
   expenses
  

  Year TSEK
2017 506 481 460 697 91%
2016  450 585 411 183 92%
2015  463 331 440 622 95%
2014  450 571 422 920 94%
2013  473 366 438 814  93%

   Funds  Fundraising  
   raised expenses 

  Year TSEK
2017 63 201 9 850 16%
2016 54 540 9 121 17%
2015 43 447 6 041 14%
2014 36 832 6 298 17%
2013 37 889 7 318 19%
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se stems among other things from an increase in do-
nations from individuals of SEK 3.9 million and from 
monthly donations increasing by SEK 1 million. Dia-
konia is a beneficiary of the Swedish Postcode Lotte-
ry, whose vision is to contribute to a better world for 
people, animals and the environment. The surplus 
from lottery ticket sales goes to charitable causes. In 
2017, the Postcode Lottery contributed SEK 24.6 mil-
lion (SEK 23.5 million in 2016). 

Financial instruments and investment policy 
Diakonia’s securities portfolio is managed by Nordea 
and is invested in funds that adhere to Diakonia’s in-
vestment policy. This means that investment is made in 
low-risk financial instruments, mainly interest-bear- 
ing securities. The ethical criteria do not permit in-
vestment in activities including those that involve 
arms, pornography, violation of human rights, alco-
hol, tobacco or environmental destruction. Shares 
received as gifts are sold immediately, and the sale 
value is recorded as revenue.

Sustainability information. Diakonia has a decen-
tralised organizational structure. It has a total of 261 
employees, the majority of them (211 people) being 
employed in the various countries in which Diakonia 
has a presence. This creates continuity and helps en-
sure effectiveness and a good understanding of the 
context in which Diakonia works with development 
cooperation. The conditions of local employees are re-
gulated by Diakonia’s internal guidelines and by local 
salary levels and legislation.

In 2017, 43 people worked at Head Office in Stock-
holm and seven people were stationed abroad. Staff 
members at Head Office are covered by sector and sa-
lary agreements for non-profit and ideology-driven or-
ganizations, and staff posted abroad by general terms 
of employment for staff on international missions. In 
2017 the board adopted a policy to strengthen the or-

ganization’s protective mechanisms for children and 
thereby prevent and counteract their abuse and explo-
itation. Diakonia puts great emphasis on all its work 
being rights-based. To ensure high quality and high 
standards in all our work, and to enable all those affec-
ted by Diakonia’s operations to hold us accountable, 
Diakonia has undertaken to follow the Core Humani-
tarian Standard (CHS). CHS promotes respect for fun-
damental human rights in emergency response. 

Future development. Diakonia is working conti-
nuously on developing and adapting the organi-
zation to ensure that goals are achieved efficient-
ly and sustainably and that they are relevant in a 
changing and challenging world. Conclusions will 
be drawn in 2018 from the external organizational 
evaluation. These will form the basis of analysis 
and decisions regarding changes and initiatives 
necessary for creating a more efficient organization 
and thus improve the conditions for contributing 
to long-term change for rights holders.

In 2018 the organization will focus more sharply 
on working systematically with planning, reporting 
and learning. This will take place within the scope 
of Diakonia’s work on achieving results with the 
individual at the centre, with strategic planning, 
follow-up and leadership based on learning and 
accountability. Diakonia’s theory of change will be 
developed further with the aim of being implemen-
ted in the organization during the next strategy 
period. Also, Diakonia will continue to develop 
e-learning as a method for improving the spread 
and exchange of knowledge and experience within 
the organization.

Diakonia will continue to develop its global pro-
gramme activities. This work will include looking 
into the possibility of opening a further three re-
source centres within the global IHL programme, 
which was launched in 2017. The countries in ques-

Total expenses per region 

  2017  2016  2015 

Middle East 51 708 10% 50 963 11% 49 643 11%

Asia 58 913 12% 59 496 13% 81 911 17%

Africa 219 801 44% 183 435 41% 195 124 41%

Latin America 104 856 21% 95 534 21% 93 662 20%

Sweden and globally 25 419 5% 21 756 5% 20 182 4%

Joint 38 530 8% 37 609 8% 34 917 7%

Total 499 226 100% 448 792 100% 475 539 100%

Annual accounts

tion are the Democratic Republic of the Congo, 
Myanmar/Burma and Somalia.

Diakonia wishes to develop its humanitarian 
work aimed at Syrian refugees in the Middle East. 
We will continue to develop strategies to bridge the 
gap between humanitarian work and development 
work, in which Diakonia plays a strategic role as a 
development organization that also carries out hu-
manitarian work. In both the humanitarian work 
and the long-term work, Diakonia places great 
emphasis on maintaining a high standard and high 
quality in all its initiatives. Over the next few years, 
Diakonia will be certifying the entire organization 
to the CHS standard.

Diakonia’s goal is to ensure that all activities are 
characterised by a gender equality perspective and 
that all programmes and projects include environ-
mental and conflict perspectives. In order to reach 
this goal, Diakonia will continue to strengthen staff 
capacity to systematically include the three per-
spectives and to monitor and ensure that this takes 
place. Over the coming years, we will also be exa-
mining our own organizational culture and formal 
and informal power structures within Diakonia to 
ensure that we also work internally on the basis of 
a gender-equal, transparent and inclusive culture.

Management. Diakonia’s Annual Meeting is the 
highest governing body, taking decisions on its glo-
bal policy, global strategy and overall budget for co-
ming years. The Annual Meeting also appoints Board 
members and the Secretary General, adopts the end-
of-year accounts, decides on discharging the Board 
from liability and selects auditors and the nomina-
ting committee. Delegates at the Annual Meeting are 
appointed by the principals. The Board is ultimately 
responsible for Diakonia’s activities. In 2017 the Bo-
ard met on six occasions (an extra meeting was held 
to nominate the Board’s proposal for a new Secretary 
General prior to the extraordinary AGM on 24 March 
2017, when the principals appointed Georg Andrén). 
During the year, Diakonia’s Board consisted of: 
Pether Nordin (chairperson, attendance 6/6), Mari-
anne Claesson (vice chairperson, attendance 3/3) re-
signed at the AGM on 11 June 2017, Oskar Permwall 
(member, attendance 6/6), Ann-Sofie Lasell (mem-
ber until the AGM on 11 June 2017, subsequently vice 
chairperson, attendance 5/6), Christer Daelander 

(member, attendance 4/6), Göran Gunner (member, 
attendance 5/6), Ingela Svedin (member, attendan-
ce 6/6) and Anette Drewitz (new member from the 
AGM on 11 June 2017, attendance 3/3).

Diakonia’s presiding committee, which consists of 
the chairperson and vice chairperson, works between 
Board meetings on current business and on planning 
forthcoming Board meetings. The Secretary General 
is Diakonia’s most senior executive and is accounta-
ble to the Board. The Secretary General represents 
the organization in various contexts and ensures that 
the organization follows the adopted guidelines and 
decisions. The Secretary General delegates responsi-
bility to the Deputy Secretary General and Head of 
HR, as well as to Heads of department for the respec-
tive areas of operations. Diakonia’s order of delega-
tion describes the division of responsibility throug-
hout the organization.
 
Diakonia’s Head Office is in Stockholm.

Regional and country offices. Diakonia is a decen-
tralized organization with country offices in 23 of the 
25 countries where long-term development coopera-
tion and emergency response are carried out. Four 
regional offices support the country offices with over-
all coordination and administration

Africa. Regional office: Kenya. Country offices: Bur-
kina Faso, Democratic Republic of the Congo (DRC), 
Kenya, Mali, Moçambique, Somalia, Uganda, Zambia 
and Zimbabwe. 

Asia. Regional office: Thailand. Country offices: 
Bangladesh, Cambodja, Myanmar/Burma, Sri Lanka 
and Thailand. 

Latin America. Regional office: Colombia. Country 
offices: Bolivia, Colombia, Guatemala, Honduras,  
Nicaragua, Paraguay och Peru.
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Middle East. Regional office: Palestine. Country  
offices: Lebanon and Palestine.

Other information. Diakonia is a member of the 
Swedish Fundraising Council, Svenska Postkodför-
eningen (which administers the proceeds from the 
Swedish Postcode Lottery that go to charitable orga-
nizations) and the global ACT Alliance network. We 
participate in several different groups linked to ACT, 
such as ACT EU, ACT Europe, E8, ACT Nordic and 
in ACT EU’s working groups for advocacy work on  
climate, the Middle East and Central America.

We are represented in several boards, including 
Concord Sweden, European Network for Central 
Africa, Swedwatch and Världens Barn. During the 
year, the Secretary General has also served in the  
board of Radiohjälpen. We also take part in the EU-
LAT Network for Latin America. We are also mem-
bers of the Swedish Platform for Colombia in Sweden 
and of the Zimbabwe Europe Network. In addition, 
we are represented in the Swedish Network for Tran-
sitional Justice, the Forum for Security Co-operation 

and the various networks of the framework organi-
sations. Where humanitarian work is concerned, we 
are members of the Core Humanitarian Standard, 
Charter for Change, Swedish Humanitarian Network 
(Svenska Humanitära Nätverket), and Swedish 
Network for Disaster Risk and Resilience (Svenska 
Nätverket för Katastrofrisk och Resiliens). We are 
also members of the Global Network of Civil Society 
Organisations for Disaster Reduction (GNDR).

Diakonia is also a member of various partnerships, 
including Fair Finance Guide Sweden, Swedwatch, 
Swedish Forum for Human Rights, Swedish Ecume-
nical Accompaniment Programme in Palestine and 
Israel, and European Coalition for Corporate Justice.
 
Diakonia's digital channels in Sweden are:
diakonia.se
facebook.com/diakonia.se
twitter.com/diakoniasverige
instagram.com/diakonia_sweden
peoplechangetheworld.org
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  Note

Revenues of the association 

 

Grants

Gifts 

Other revenues  

 Total revenues of the association 2, 3, 4 

Costs for the association  

Operational costs for projects  

Fundraising and marketing costs  

Administration costs  

 Total costs for the association 2 

 

Result of operations 

 

Result from financial investments

Result from securities and receivables accounted for as fixed assets 5

Other interest income and similar profit/loss items 6 

Interest expense and similar profit/loss items 7 

 

Total income from financial investments  

 

Net profit/loss for the year 

 

Variation of earmarked funds 4

Profit/loss for the year according to the profit and loss statement 

 

Utilisation of earmarked funds 

Utilisation of Fund for operations and investment 

 

Other earmarked funds not utilised during the year 

 

Remaining balance/profit/loss brought forward

The totals may deviate from the subtotals due to round figures.  

 

2017

457 889

46 413

2 179

506 481

-460 697

-9 850

-28 680

-499 226

7 254

2 107

2 142

-7 664

-3 416

3 838

3 838

2 259

-1 400

-4 611

85

2016

406 306

42 324

1 955

450 585

-411 183

-9 121

-28 488

-448 792

1 793

2 843

101

-1 656

1 288

3 081

3 081

482

-2 000

-1 346

217

Profit and loss statement
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   Note

Assets    

 

Fixed assets   

Intangible assets 

  Capitalised expenditure for software  8 

Tangible assets  

  Equipment 9 

Financial assets 

  Investments held as fixed assets 10 

Total fixed assets   

Current assets

Current receivables    

  Other receivables  

  Prepaid expenses and accrued income 12 

Total current receivables  

Cash and bank balances  

Total current assets  

Total assets  

Equity and Liabilities

Equity  

  Fund for operations and investment  

  Earmarked funds    

  Profit/loss brought forward  

Total equity    

Provisions 

  Provisions for pensions and similar commitments 14 

Current liabilities 

  Accounts payable – trade  

  Liabilities to financiers 13 

  Other liabilities  

  Accrued expenses and deferred income 16 

Total current liabilities  

Total equity and liabilities

The totals may deviate from the subtotals due to round figures.     

 2017

404

63

118 027

118 495

2 866

10 191

13 056

81 755

94 811

213 306

11 073

4 830

80 739

96 641

                    

10 353

1 356

92 099

1 704

11 152

106 311

213 306

 2016

950

297

114 758

116 006

3 964

5 901

9 866

112 948

122 814

238 820

9 673

2 477

80 654

92 803

9 231

4 300

118 216

1 894

12 375

136 786

238 820

Balance sheet  

Annual accounts Årsredovisning

Equity

Cash flow statement

Scope and purpose of Diakonia’s equity . The purpose of Diakonia’s equity is related to responsible management. If there would be 
a possible need of a liquidation of Diakonia’s operations, the equity should cover fixed costs such as rents and contracts of employment 
at head office, regional and country offices for one year. This year, the expenses for regional and country offices are about 103 MSEK, 
which is reported as operational costs, according to agreements with Sida. The expenses of the Head Office amount to approximately 
29 MSEK, which is reported as administration costs. The main part of these costs consists of rents and staff. All Diakonia funds are 
aimed at its operations or the administration of its operations. The level of equity should be based on an evaluation of probability. 
According to a decision taken by the Board of Diakonia, the level of equity should be about 25% of the total annual turnover. In addi-
tion Diakonia has created a fund for operations and investment. Possible surpluses from administration contributions are offset to the 
fund. The purpose is to create liquidity for e. g. pre-funding of EU agreements, bridge funding of country offices and IT investments. 

 

 Earmarked 

funds 

Fund for operations 

and investment

Profit/loss 

brought forward

Total  

equity

Opening profit/loss 2 477 9 673 80 654 92 803

Utilisation of fund for opera-

tions and investment

1 400 1400

Earmarked funds not utilised 4 611 4611

Utilisation of earmarked 

funds

  -2 259 -2259

Remaining balance 85 85

Closing profit/loss 4 830 11 073 80 739 96 641

   2017 2016

Operating activities

Result of operations 7 254 1 793

Depreciation  868 4 532

Other items not included in cash flow 1 123 1 491

Interest received 2 142 101

Dividends received 800 1 043

Interest paid -7 664 -1 656

Cash flow from operating activities before working capital changes 4 522 7 304

  

Increase/decrease in other current receivables  -3 191 -2 787

Increase/decrease in accounts payable  -2 944 -492

Increase/decrease in other current operating liabilities  -27 530 66 382

Cash flow from operating activities  -29 144 70 407

Investing activities  

Investments in intangible fixed assets  0 0

Investments in tangible fixed assets  -87 -18

Investments in financial fixed assets -3 269 -4 339

Disposals of financial fixed assets 1 306 1 799

Cash flow from investing activities  -2 050 -2 558

Cash flow for the year -31 193 67 849

Cash at beginning of the year 112 948 45 099

Cash at the end of the year 81 755 112 948

Liquidity of 82 MSEK consists of bank account holding and petty cash at Head Office (57 MSEK) 

and at Regional and Country Offices (25 MSEK)
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Diakonia’s accounting and valuation policies comply with the 
Swedish Annual Accounts Act, the Swedish Accounting Stan-
dards Board’s (BFN) rule BFNAR 2012:1 (K3) and FRII’s (the 
Swedish Fundraising Council) guidelines on annual reporting.

The principles remain unchanged compared to the previous 
financial year.

Profit and loss statement

Programme service revenue. Only the inflow of economic be-
nefits that the organization has received or will receive on its own 
account is recognised as revenue. Unless otherwise indicated 
below, revenue is measured at the fair value of what has been 
received or will be received.

Gifts and grants. Any transaction through which Diakonia re-
ceives an asset or a service that has a value and does not provide 
corresponding value in return is a gift or a grant received. If the 
asset or service is received because Diakonia has fulfilled or will 
fulfill certain conditions and if Diakonia has an obligation to re-
pay the counterparty if the  conditions are not fulfilled, it is consi-
dered a grant received. If it is not a grant, it is a gift.

Gifts. Gifts are, as a main principle, recognised as revenue when 
received. A gift recognised as revenue is accounted for as an asset 
or a cost, depending on whether the gift is used directly or not. 
Other gifts are recognised as current assets. Gifts are, as a main 
principle, recognised at fair value. 

Grants. Grants are recognised as revenue when the conditions for 
receiving the grant have been fulfilled. Grants received are recogni-
sed as liabilities until the conditions for receiving the grant have 
been fulfilled. Grants received to cover certain costs (for example, 
for administration) are recognised in the same fiscal year as the 
cost the grant is intended to cover.

Programme service expenses. Programme service expenses 
are classified into the following functions: mission, fundraising 
and administrative.

Mission expenses. Mission operational expenses consist of tho-
se expenses that have a direct connection to fulfilling the purpose 
and/or articles of association of the organization. These expenses 
are divided into four categories:

 – Programme service expenses at partners
 – Expenses relating to opinion-shaping activities, e.g.  
  thematic campaigns, in cases where op inion-shaping and  
  awareness activities are part of the mission.
 – Administration expenses with a direct bearing on  
  development cooperation are classified as programme  
  service expenses. All expenses incurred by field offices are  
  classified as programme service expenses. 
 – Knowledge and skills development within Diakonia. These  
  are expenses with a bearing on the organization’s own  
  knowledge and skills development. Examples of such  
  expenses are exchanging experience and internal training.

Fundraising expenses. Fundraising expenses consist of expen-
ses relating to fundraising activities that are aimed at all Dia-
konia’s donors, that is, private individuals, businesses and orga-
nizations. The item includes not only activities targeting existing 
donors but also the work of seeking out new donors via cam-

paigns, mailshots and maintenance of donor registers. Fundrai-
sing expenses may therefore comprise advertising, printed mat-
ter, fundraising material and personnel involved in fundraising 
activities. The comparative figure for 2016 has been adjusted, as 
costs associated with “Innovation projects for increased fundrai-
sing” financed by the Postcode Lottery were erroneously classed 
as programme activities.

Administration expenses. Administration expenses consist of 
those expenses that are necessary to manage Diakonia. Admi-
nistration is part of assuring good quality in the organization’s 
internal controls and reporting, both externally and in-house, 
to financing sources, donors, the Board and other stakeholders, 
etc. Administration expenses include those relating to the finan-
cial management function, administrative system, rents,
equipment, annual audit, preparation of the annual report, An-
nual Meeting, etc. Only expenses incurred at Head Office can be 
defined as administration expenses.

Leasing. All the organization’s leases are accounted for as ope-
rating leases, that is, the leasing charge (including the first in-
creased rent) is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the 
term of the lease. Also fees for rent of premises are in this respect 
leasing fees.

Remuneration to employees. Ongoing remuneration to 
employees, in the form of wages/salaries, social welfare contribu-
tions, etc. is recognised as an expense as the employees perform 
their services. All pension commitments are defined-contribu-
tion and are recognised as an expense in the year in which the 
pension entitlement is earned.

Balance sheet. Assets, liabilities and provisions are measured at 
acquisition value, unless otherwise indicated below.

Property, plant and equipment and intangible non-current 
assets. Property, plant and equipment and intangible non-cur-
rent assets are measured at acquisition cost less depreciation ac-
cording to plan. The acquisition cost was reduced by grant finance 
relating to the acquisition of a non-current asset. 

Depreciation is applied on a straight-line basis over the esti-
mated useful life of the particular asset. The following periods of 
depreciation are applied:

 Electronics (computers, etc.) 3 years
 Used cars  3 years
 New cars  5 years
 Modified software  3 years
 Equipment (furniture, etc.) 5 years

Financial assets. Accounts receivable are measured individually 
at the amount that is expected to be received.
After the first accounting occasion, current asset investments 
are measured by application of the lower of cost or market rule, 
that is, at acquisition value or the net sale value, whichever is the 
lower.

After the first accounting occasion, non-current financial as-
sets that are not interest-bearing are measured at acquisition 
value [less impairment]. Long-term fixed-interest assets such as 
bonds are measured at  accumulated acquisition value by app-
lication of the effective interest rate rule [less impairment]. All 
assets held for risk diversification are considered to represent a 

securities portfolio and are therefore treated as one item at me-
asurement by application of the lower of cost or market rule or 
in testing for impairment. Impairment of a non-current asset is 
recognised if the market value is lower than the acquisition cost 
and the decline is deemed to be permanent.

Receivables and liabilities in foreign currencies are measured 
at the rates on the balance sheet date.

At the time of  acquisition, financial assets are measured at 
acquisition value plus direct transaction costs.

Mission funds. The heading Mission earmarked fund in equity 
includes gifts not yet spent and other Mission funds. See also the 
Equity section in the Notes to the financial statements.

Liabilities for received but not used grants. Received grants 
where the conditions are not jet fully fulfilled will be reported as 
liability.

Provisions. A provision is reported when Diakonia has a legal or 
informal undertaking resulting from events that have occurred 
and where Diakonia expects that payment will be demanded to 
settle the undertaking and a reliable estimate of the amount can 
be made. Provisions are valued at the best estimate of the amount 
that will be paid.

Contingent liabilities. Diakonia provides information on a con-
tingent liability when it has a possible liability as a result of events 
not outside Diakonia’s control taking place or not taking place,
or if Diakonia has an existing liability as a result of events that oc-
curred but that are not reported as liabilities or provisions, as it is 
unlikely that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the 
liability or the size of the liability cannot be reliably estimated.

Note 1 Accounting and valuation policies

Operation 
with part-

ners 1)

Operation 
within  

Diakonia 1)

Administra- 
tion 1)

Non-project 
fundraising 

Other funds 
provided 2)

Total Total

2017 2016

Reserved funds for projects, 1 January 2017 17 653 27 151

Raised funds for projects, 1 January 2017 2 477 1 613

Public grants 286 593 130 706 23 801 441 101 394 090

Raised funds 19 090 19 181 3 987 20 943 63 201 54 540

Other revenues 2 179 2 179 1 955

Total revenues 2017 305 684 149 888 27 788 20 943 2 179 506 481 450 585

Middle East 28 753 22 955 51 708 50 963

Asia 46 144 12 769 58 913 59 496

Africa 157 873 61 927 219 801 183 435

Latin America 80 308 24 547 104 856 95 534

Globally 403 25 016 25 419 21 756

Common expenses 28 680 9 850 38 530 37 609

Total costs 2017 313 481 147 215 28 680 9 850 0 499 226 448 792

Results of operations -7 798 2 673 -892 11 093 2 179 7 254 1 793

Net utilisation of earmarked funds -2 353 -864

Reserved funds for projects, 31 December 2017 37 388 17 653

Raised funds for projects, 31 December 2017 4 830 2 477

Note 2.  Summary of revenues and costs for projects in 2017

1) See accounting principles
2) Share of Diakonia’s Other revenues which has been provided to the project funds
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Note 3. The revenues of the association Note 4. Budget follow-up

Note 5. Income from securities and receivables accounted for as fixed assets

Note 6. Other interest income and similar profit/loss items

Note 7. Interest expense and similar profit/loss items

The revenues of the association are specified as follows 2017 2016

Raised funds 63 201 54 540

Public grants 441 101 394 090

Other revenues 2 179 1 955

Total 506 481 450 585

Gifts

Gifts from direct debet donors 13 399 12 381

Gifts from private donors 9 920 6 066

Gifts from congregations 248 703

Gifts from organizations and companies 134 643

Donations by investments in funds 1 479 1 630

Donations by legacies 1 199 977

Swedish Postcode Lottery 20 000 20 000

Accrued project funds 33 -76

Total 46 413 42 324

Private grants

The Children of the World campaign 2 286 3 611

Other grants Swedish Radio Assistance 4 096 4 190

Swedish Postcode Lottery 4 615 3 545

Other private grants 3 427 1 046

Accrued project funds 2 419 -139

Repaid grants -54 -37

Total 16 788 12 216

Total raised funds 63 201 54 540

Public grants are distributed as follows 2017 2016

Sida CivSam 1&2) 152 693 157 567

Sida Info 1&3) 4 700 4 500

Sida RegLA 1&4) 4 860 4 415

Sida Hum 1&5) 19 517 14 000

Sw. Emb. Middle East 6) 7 000 7 000

Sv. Amb. Africa 6) 137 657 95 287

Sv. Amb. Asia 6) 14 000 12 940

Sv. Amb. Latin America 6) 52 219 25 640

EU Middle East 3 146 3 852

EU Asia 857 1 434

EU Africa 12 940 3 513

EU Latin America 16 958 16 684

The Norwegian Association of Disabled 3 575 3 867

Foreign Embassies 10 637 14 763

Other financiers 22 667 18 741

Accrued grants -22 188 9 713

Repaid grants -136 176

Total 441 101 394 090

1) Swedish International Development Cooperation Agency 
2) The unit for civil society, CivSam, is part of the Department for global cooperation
3) Information and communication work, is part of the unit for civil society
4) The Latin-America department, after reorganization the regional work in Latin America is found in the Department for conflict and post conflict cooperation
5) Humanitarian aid - subdivision under the Department of conflict and post conflict cooperation
6) Sectors for Development Cooperation at Swedish Embassies 

During the year, approximately 350 individuals worked without compensation as representatives for Diakonia in Sweden. Moreover, many people have committed themselves 
to campaigns and similar events on behalf of Diakonia. The value of all this work - free of charge - is not accounted for in the profit and loss statement.

Outcome Budget Deviation

2017 2017

Revenues of the association

Public grants 463 424 500 931 -37 507

 - Allocated project funds/Repaid grants -22 324 -22 324

Raised funds 60 803 52 350 8 453

 - Allocated/Repaid grants 2 398 2 398

Other revenues 2 179 450 1 729

Total revenues of the association 506 481 553 731 -47 250

Costs of the association

Operational costs for projects -460 697 -516 039 55 342

Fundrasing costs -9 850 -8 613 -1 237

Administration costs -28 680 -29 004 324

Total costs for the association -499 226 -553 656 54 430

Results of operations 7 254 75 7 179

Results from financial investments -3 416 -3 416

Net profit/loss for the year 3 838 75 3 763

Distribution of net profit/loss for the year

Net profit/loss for the year according to the profit and loss statement 3 838 75 3 763

Utilisation and reserve of earmarked funds -3 753

Utilisation of Fund for operations and investment

Remaining balance, profit/loss brought forward 85 75 3 763

2017 2016

Dividends 800 1 043

Profit/loss sale of fixed assets 1 306 1 799

Return/write down fixed assets

Total 2 107 2 843

2017 2016

Bank interest 2 142 101

Total 2 142 101

2017 2016

Interest charges and interest on overdue payment -1 -2

Gains/losses of currency transactions -7 663 -1 654

Total -7 664 -1 656
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Note 11. Leasing

Note 12. Prepaid expenses and accrued income

Note 13. Liabilities to financiers

Note 15. Salaries, remuneration and social security contributions

Note 14. Provisions for pensions

Note 8. Intangible fixed assets

Note 9. Tangible fixed assets

Note 10. Long-term investments held as fixed assets

Capitalised expenditure of software 2017 2016

Opening acquisition value 18 076 18 076

Capitalised expenses of the year

Disposal for the year -221

Closing accumulated acquisition value 17 856 18 076

Opening depreciation -17 126 -13 112

Depreciation for the year -547 -4 014

Disposal for the year 221

Closing accumulated depreciation -17 452 -17 126

Closing residual value according to plan 404 950

Capitalised expenditure for equipment 2017 2016

Opening acquisition value 6 112 6 524

Capitalised expenses for the year 87 18

Disposal for the year -327 -430

Re-classification

Closing accumulated acquisition value 5 872 6 112

Opening depreciation -5 815 -5 727

Depreciation for the year -321 -518

Disposal for the year 327 430

Re-classification

Closing accumulated depreciation -5 809 -5 815

Closing residual value according to plan 63 297

Holdings in mutual funds and similar investments 2017 2017 2016 2016

Booked value Market value Booked value Market value

Banco Humanfond 10 889 16 108 10 889 14 833

Swedbank Robour SICA 151 233 151 233

Aktieansvar Sverige 320 978 263 840

Handelsbanken Lux 98 113 98 113

AktieAnsvar Europa 6 6 6 6

Penningmarknadsfonden 10 444 10 532 9 022 9 134

Nordea Kapitalfond 85 266 90 235 84 123 87 395

Nordea Swedish Stars 10 190 10 156 10 207 10 213

Individual shares 664 664

Total 118 027 129 026 114 759 122 767

Since the end of 2009 Diakonia has a contract with Nordea for the management of Diakonia’s funds.

Leasing fees 2017 amounted to 7 195 TSEK (6 583 TSEK)

* Refers to pension commitments to local employees

Salary costs of 1,3 MSEK refer to those for the Secretary General and former Secretary General, who received salary in parallel during parts of 2017. 196 TSEK (124 TSEK) of 
the total amount of pension costs refers to the Secretary General’s and former Secretary General’s pension. The members of the Board have not received remuneration from 
Diakonia for their work. Compensation may be paid for loss of income. All staff with a Swedish contract of employment are covered by a collective agreement.

2017 2016

Leasing contracts Leasing fees Leasing fees

Within 1 year 6 232 5 776

1-5 years 14 954 7 845

Later than 5 years 1 528 0

Total 22 715 13 622

2017 2016

Prepaid rent 425 426

Accrued project revenues 8 941 4 691

Prepaid project expenses 175 240

Other items 650 545

Total 10 191 5 901

2017 2016

Project balance 37 388 17 653

Liabilities to financiers 296 577

Deferred project income Sida 20 160 68 154

Deferred project income EU 6 887 8 472

Deferred project income Swedish Postcode Lottery 16 485 9 100

Deferred project income other 10 883 14 261

Total 92 099 118 216

2017 2016

Provisions outside the security agreement* 10 353 9 231

2017 2016

Secretary General* 1 306 769

Employees in Sweden* 27 425 26 791

Employees with overseas agreements 3 541 3 398

Employees with local agreements 60 227 54 195

Total salaries and remuneration 92 500 85 153

* Salaries employees in Sweden 19,6 MSEK (18,8 MSEK)

Of which social security contributions for employees in Sweden 6 277 5 989

Of which pension costs for employees in Sweden 3 042 2 869

2017 2016

Salaries and other remuneration distributed by 
region amount to:

Employees with 
Swedish contracts

All employees  
at Diakonia

Employees with 
Swedish contracts

All employees  
at Diakonia

Sweden 28 731 28 731 28 407 28 407

The Middle East 0 14 247 0 14 730

Asia 1 114 6 975 605 5 906

Africa 1 678 27 194 1 244 22 055

Latin America 749 15 352 702 14 055

Total 32 272 92 500 30 958 85 153
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Note 16. Accrued expenses and deferred income

Note 17. Average number of employees

Note 18. Estimates and judgements

Note 19. Significant events after the end of the fiscal year

2017 2016

Holiday pay 1 567 1 702

Accrued expenses, social security contribution 487 504

Special employer’s contribution 722 779

Other accrued expenses, personnel 1 452 1 127

Accrued project expenses 2 143 5 623

Other items 4 781 2 640

Total 11 152 12 375

2017 2016

Number of full- 
time employments

Of which men Number of full- 
time employments

Of which men

Contract form

Employees in Sweden 43 26% 42 28%

Employees with overseas agreements 7 45% 6 49%

Employees with local agreements 211 44% 207 44%

Total 261 41% 255 42%

Geographic location

Sweden 43 26% 42 28%

The Middle East 26 30% 27 29%

Asia  38 35% 36 43%

Africa 103 57% 98 57%

Latin America 50 32% 52 31%

Total 261 41% 255 42%

Board members and senior management Number as per 
2017-12-31

Of which men Number as per 
2016-12-31

Of which men

Board members 7 57% 7 57%

Secretary General and management group 6 33% 6 33%

Diakonia makes forward-looking estimates and judgements. As a result, the accounting appraisals that are based on such estimates and judgements 
will, by their nature, rarely be reflected in actual outcomes.

As a complement to the organizational evaluation at global level, a more in-depth evaluation of the MENA region (Middle East and North Africa) was 
carried out in February.

Alvik, Sweden  25th of April  2018     
     
     
     

Pether Nordin Ann-Sofie Lasell  
Chairperson of the Board  Vice Chairperson of the Board  

     
     
     

Ingela Svedin Annette Drewitz Christer Daelander  Oskar Permwall Göran Gunner  
   
  My audit report was presented on 27 of April 2018

     

Georg Andrén, Secretary General  Jonas Grahn, Authorised Public Accountant, PricewaterhouseCoopers AB

Victorine Nkuamusu lives in a beautiful part of the world, Mpozo in the Demo-
cratic Republic of the Congo. A small village with a stream running through 
the lush green fields. The landscape looks lush and green, but despite the 
fertile land, the inhabitants are struggling with poverty. Corruption, con-
flicts and a lack of gender equality are widespread. This is where Diakonia’s 
partner organization CONAFED/REFED comes in. By teaching new farming 
techniques while supporting women farmers, they give residents greater op-
portunities for sustainable income and gender equality. 

“At the meetings, we exchange ideas. The aim is to fight against pover-
ty, become independent and not be limited by our bodies. We say what we 
think. A yes is a yes and a no is a no. Many women are afraid to speak out, 
but we aren’t,” says Victorine. 
 

“We say what  
we think”

Result
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REPORT ON THE ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 

Opinions. I have audited the annual accounts of Diakonia 
for 2017. The annual accounts are included on pages 27-42 
in this document.

In my opinion, the annual accounts have been prepared 
in accordance with the Annual Accounts Act and present 
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 
association as of 31 December 2017 and of its financial per-
formance and cash flow for the year then ended in accor-
dance with the Annual Accounts Act. The statutory admi-
nistration report is consistent with the other parts of the 
annual accounts.

Basis for Opinions. I conducted my audit in accordance 
with International Standards on Auditing (ISA) and gene-
rally accepted auditing standards in Sweden. My respon-
sibilities under those standards are further described in 
the Auditor’s Responsibilities section. I am independent 
of the association in accordance with professional ethics 
for accountants in Sweden and have otherwise fulfilled 
my ethical responsibilities in accordance with these re-
quirements. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is suf-
ficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinions.

Other Information than the annual accounts and 

consolidated accounts. It is the Board of Directors and 
Secretary General who have the responsibility for the 
other information. The other information is comprised of 
the Annual Report for 2017 (pages 1-26 and pages 46-50) 
and Sustainability Report 2017 (pages 51-61) (but does 
not include the annual accounts and my Auditor’s Report 
regarding those accounts).  

My opinion on the annual accounts does not cover this 
other information and I do not express any form of assu-
rance conclusion regarding this other information.

In connection with my audit of the annual accounts, 
my responsibility is to read the information identified 
above and consider whether the information is materially 
inconsistent with the annual accounts. In this procedure I 
also take into account my knowledge otherwise obtained 
in the audit and assess whether the information otherwi-
se appears to be materially misstated.

If I, based on the work performed concerning this in-
formation, conclude that there is a material misstatement 
of this other information, I am required to report that 
fact. I have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the Se-

cretary General. The Board of Directors and Secretary 

General are responsible for the preparation of the annual 
accounts and that they give a fair presentation in accordan-
ce with the Annual Accounts Act. The Board of Directors 
and the Secretary General are also responsible for such in-
ternal control as they determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of annual accounts that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the annual accounts, The Board of Di-
rectors and the Secretary General are responsible for the 
assessment of the association’s ability to continue as a 
going concern. They disclose, as applicable, matters re-
lated to going concern and the use of the going concern 
basis of accounting. The going concern basis of accoun-
ting is however not applied if the Board of Directors and 
the Secretary General intend to liquidate the association, 
to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but 
to do so.

Auditor’s responsibility. My objectives are to obtain re-
asonable assurance about whether the annual accounts 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes my opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high 
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with ISAs and generally accep-
ted auditing standards in Sweden will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can 
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users ta-
ken on the basis of these annual accounts. 

As a part of my audit according to ISA, I undertake 
professional judgments and have a professionally scepti-
cal approach during the entire audit. In addition, I execu-
te the following activities:

• I identify and assess the risk of material misstatement 
in the annual accounts and consolidated accounts, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and execute audit 
measures based, amongst other things, on these risks 
and obtain audit evidence which is sufficient and app-
ropriate to comprise the basis of my opinion. The risk 
for failing to identify material misstatements arising 
due to fraud is greater as regards a material missta-
tement due to error, as fraud can include engagement 
in collusion, forgery, intentional omission, incorrect 
information or disregard of internal control
• I obtain an understanding of that portion of the Foun-
dation’s internal control having significance to my 
audit to design audit measures which are appropriate 
with regard to the circumstances but I do not express 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the internal control.

• I evaluate the appropriateness of the accounting 
policies applied and the reasonability of the Board of 
Director’s estimations in the accounts and associated 
disclosures.
• I test the appropriateness of the Board and Director’s 
application of the assumption of going concern in 
preparing the annual accounts. I test, based on the 
audit evidence obtained, whether there are signifi-
cant factors of uncertainty referring to such events or 
circumstances that can lead to significant doubt as to 
the association’s capacity to continue its operations. If I 
come to the conclusion that there are significant factors 
of uncertainty, I am required to provide a statement in 
the Auditor’s Report, noting that the disclosures in the 
annual accounts involve factors of uncertainty, pro-
vided that such information is insufficient, modifying 
my opinion regarding the annual accounts. My conclu-
sions are based on the auditor’s evidence obtained up 
until the date of the Auditor’s Report. However, future 
events or circumstances can imply that the Foundation 
can no longer continue its operations.  
• I evaluate the overall presentation, structure and con-
tent of the annual accounts, including the disclosures, 
and if the annual and consolidated accounts reflect the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner provi-
ding a true and fair view.

I am required to inform the Board of Directors of, amongst 
other things, the planned scope of the audit and its focus, 
and the time schedule for the audit. I am also required to 
inform on any significant observations made during the 
audit, including any identified significant deficiencies in 
the internal control.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUI-

REMENTS

Opinion. In addition to my audit of the annual accounts, 
I have also audited the administration of the Board of Di-
rectors of Diakonia for 2017. 

I recommend that the meeting of the association grant 
the members of the Board discharge from liability for the 
financial year. 

Basis for Opinions. I conducted the audit in accordance 
with generally accepted auditing standards in Sweden. 
My responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities section. I am 
independent of the association in accordance with profes-
sional ethics for accountants in Sweden and have other-
wise fulfilled my ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with these requirements.

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is suf-
ficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinions.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors. The Board 
of Directors is responsible for the administration.

Auditor’s responsibility. My objective concerning the 
audit of the administration, and thereby my opinion 
about discharge from liability is to obtain audit evidence 
to assess with a reasonable degree of assurance whether 
any member of the Board of Directors in any material 
respect has undertaken any action or been guilty of any 
omission which can give rise to liability to the association. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but 
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordan-
ce with generally accepted auditing standards in Sweden 
will always detect actions or omissions that can give rise 
to liability to the association. 

As part of an audit in accordance with generally accep-
ted auditing standards in Sweden I exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throug-
hout the audit. The examination of the administration is 
based primarily on the audit of the accounts. Additional 
audit procedures performed are based on my professional 
judgement with the starting point in risk and materiality. 
This means that I focus the examination on such actions, 
areas and relationships that are material for the opera-
tions and where deviations and violations would have 
particular importance for the association’s situation.  I 
examine and test decisions undertaken, support for de-
cisions, actions taken and other circumstances that are 
relevant to my opinion.

Stockholm, 27 April  2018

Jonas Grahn
Authorized Public Accountant

Auditor’s report
To the annual meeting of Diakonia, corporate identity number 802017-3517                         
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Diakonia in 
the world 

Regional and country office

Programme

Country office

Bangladesh (1)
Bolivia (2)
Burkina Faso (3)
Cambodia (8) 
Colombia (4)
Cuba (10)
Democratic Republic of Congo (5)
Egypt (25)
Guatemala (6)
Honduras (7)
Kenya (9)
Lebanon (11)
Mali (12)

Moçambique (13)
Myanmar/Burma (14)
Nicaragua (15)
Palestine and Israel (16) 
Paraguay (17) 
Peru (18)
Somalia (19)
Sri Lanka (20)
Thailand (21)
Uganda (22)
Zambia (23)
Zimbabwe (24)

Head Office in Stockholm, 
Sweden

Partner organizations Partner organizations

We work with a rights-based 
approach with around 350 
locally rooted movements, faith 
communities and organizations 

in 25 countries around the 
world. Our partner organi-

zations work with human 
rights, democracy, gender 
equality, social and economic justice, 

conflict and justice and emergency 
response and disaster resilien-

ce. The following pages list the 
countries and partner organi-
zations that received financial 

support from Diakonia in 2017.
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Bangladesh (1) Number of partner organizations: 13
Suriya Women’s Development Centre, VILUTHU - Centre for Human Resour-
ce Development, Bangladesh Resource Centre for Indigenous Knowledge, 
Bangladesh Legal Aid And Services Trust, Bolipara Nari Kalyan Somity, 
Manab Kallyan Parished, Organization for Womens Development in Bang-
ladesh, Social Association for Rural Advancement, Association of Develop-
ment for Economic & Social Help, Safety and Rights Society, Unite Theatre 
for Social Action, Udayankur Seba Sangstha, Nagorik Uddyog

Bolivia (2) Number of partner organizations: 6
Union Nacional de Instituciones para el Trabajo de Accion Social, Coordi-
nadora de la Mujer, Centro de Estudios Juridicos e Investigacion Social, 
Centro de investigacion y promocion del campesinado, Asociacion Colec-
tivo Rebeldia, Asociacion Civil de Desarrollo Social y Promocion Cultural 
Libertad 

Burkina Faso (3) Number of partner organizations: 59
Centre National de Presse Norbert Zongo, Commission Justice et Paix - Bur-
kina, Association pour la Promotion des Oeuvres Sociales, Cadre de concer-
tation des ONG actives en Education de Base, Association Tin Tua (FCG), 
Association des Femmes Juristes du Burkina Faso, Association SEMFILMS, 
Centre pour la Gouvernance Démocratique, ASSOCIATION FEMME ET VIE, 
INITIATIVE PRIVEE ET COMMUNAUTAIRE CONTRE VIH/SIDA AU BURKINA 
FASO, Eau Vive Délégation pour le Burkina Faso et le Togo, Association tout 
pour tous -Yennega (CivSam), Forum for African Women Educationalist, 
Reseau Afrique Jeunesses, Centre de Recherche et d’Intervention en Gen-
re et Développement, Centre de Suivi et d’Analyse Citoyens des Politiques 
Publiques, Association des Femmes PAG-LA-YIRI, Alliance Technique d’As-
sistance au Développement, Balai Citoyen, Federation du CARTEL, Fonda-
tion pour l’Etude et la Promotion des Droits Humains en Afrique, Institut Free 
Afrik, Union Nationale de l’Audiovisuel Libre du Faso, Union des Religieux et 
Coutumiers du Burkina, SECRETARIAT EXECUTIF DIOCESAIN DE BANFORA, 
Direction Regionale de l’Action Sociale Boucle du Mouhoun, ASSEMBLEE 
NATIONALE, Reseau National de Lutte Anti-Corruption, Consortium Centre 
pour l’Ethique Judiciaire et l’Union des Jeunes Avocats du Burkina, Mouve-
ment Burkinabè des Droits de l’Homme et des Peuples, Association d’Appui 
et d’ Eveil Pugsada, Association Monde Rural, Mouvement Burkinabe pour 
le Développement et le Civisme, Groupe d’Etude et de Recherche sur la De-
mocratie et le Developpement Economique, TON, Cadre Unitaire D’Actions 
de Karangasso-Vigué, Association pour la Gestion de l’Environnement et le 
Développement, Centre d’information et de documentation citoyennes, As-
sociation pour la Promotion et le Développement du Gulmu, Association Tin 
Tua (CivSam), LABORATOIRE CITOYENNETE 2, Les Films du Défi, SOS Peni-
tencier, Centre d’Information de Formation et d’Etudes sur le Budget, Asso-
ciation Koom pour l’Auto Promotion des Femmes du Burkina Faso, Institut de 
Recherche en Sciences de la Santé, SECRETARIAT PERMANENT DU CONSEIL 
NATIONAL POUR LA PROMOTION DU GENRE, Plate-forme d’Actions à la Sé-
curisation des Ménages Pastoraux, Programme de Marketing Social et de 
Communication pour la Santé, Association Tout pour Tous Yennenga, Se-
crétariat permanent du Conseil national de lutte contre la pratique de l’ex-
cision, Ministère du Commerce, de l’Industrie et de l’Artisanat, Association 
des Femmes Tisseuses de Ponsomtenga, SEBGO Sidlawendé Marie Danielle 
BIO KARIL, Palobé Emilie Kyedrebeogo, Ouedraogo Sara Judith, Ouattara 
Fatoumata Queen Mafa, Association des Bloggueurs de Burkina

Cambodia (8) Number of partner organizations: 20
Center for Alliance of Labor and Human Rights, Cambodia Indigenous Pe-
ople Organisation, The NGO Forum on Cambodia, Banteay Srei, Gender 
and Development for Cambodia, Building Community Voices, Coalition 
for Cambodian Farmer Community, Cambodian Center for Independen-
ce Media, Sahmakum Teang Tnaut, Cambodian League for the Promotion 
and Defense of Human Rights, Cambodia Human Rights and Development 
Association, Equitable Cambodia, Cambodia Food and Service Workers’ 
Federation, Community Legal Education Center, Independent Democracy 
of Informal Economy Association, Cambodian Center for Human Rights, 
Committee for Free and Fair Elections in Cambodia, AMARA, Women’s Re-
source Center, Cooperation Committee for Cambodia

Colombia (4) Number of partner organizations: 20
Asociación lideres en acción, ASOCIACION CENTRO NACIONAL SALUD AM-
BIENTE Y TRABAJO, Corporacion AVRE ACOMPAÑAMIENTO PSICOSOCIAL 
Y ATENCION EN SALUD MENTAL A VICTIMAS DE VIOLENCIA POLITICA, Cor-
poracion Comite civico por los derechos humanos del Meta, Fundacion Sol 
y Tierra Cauca, Asociación Movimiento Feminista por la Paz Ruta Pacífica 
de las Mujeres, Oficina Internacional de Derechos Humanos-Accion Colom-
bia, Consejo Comunitario Mayor de la Asociación Campesina Integral del 
Atrato, Fundación Centro de Investigación y Educación Popular, Consejo 
Regional Indígena del Cauca, Fundación Estrella Orográfica del Macizo 
Colombiano, Fundación Comité de Solidaridad con los Presos Políticos, 

Corporacion Desarrollo y Paz del Magdalena Medio, Corporación Sisma 
Mujer, Red Departamental de Mujeres Chocoanas, Colombia Diversa, Cen-
tro de Estudios para la Justicia Social Tierra Digna

Cuba (10) Number of partner organizations: 8
Inter Press Service, Centro Cristiano de Reflexión y Diálogo, Centro Me-
morial Martin Luther King, Consejo de Iglesias Kuba, Centro de reflexión 
y solidaridad Oscar Arnulfo Romero, Centro Cristiano de Servicio Social y 
Capacitación Bartolomé Gregorio Lavastida, Movimiento Estudiantil Cristi-
ano, Servicio de Noticias de la Mujer de Latinoamerica y el Caribe

Democratic Republic of Congo (5) Number of partner organizations: 11
EURAC NETWORK, Conseil Régional des Organisations non gouvernemen-
tales de Développement du Bas-Congo, Centre National d’Appui au Déve-
loppement et à la Participation Populaire, Nouvelle société civile congolaise, 
Organisation Congolaise des Ecologistes et Amis de la Nature, Femmes des 
Medias pour la Justice au Congo, Centre d’étude sur la Justice et la Réso-
lution 1325, Cercle de Réflexion et d’Appui pour le Développement Durable 
des Initiatives à la Base, Comité National Femme et Développement, Caritas 
Congo Asbl, Cadre de concertation nationale de la société civile RDC

Egypt (25) Number of partner organizations: 1
Coptic Evangelical Organization for Social Services

Guatemala (6) Number of partner organizations: 17
Asociación de Mujeres Q’eqchies Nuevo Horizonte, Asociación por Nosot-
ras Ixmukané, Asociación Grupo Integral de Mujeres Sanjuaneras AGIMS, 
Centro para la Acción Legal en Derechos Humanos, Instancia de Consenso 
del Pueblo Maya Q’eqchi’-Poqomchi’ de Alta Verapaz, K’amol B’e, Asoci-
ación La Alianza, Fundación para el Desarrollo y Fortalecimiento de las 
organizaciones de Base, Centro de Estudios y Documentación de la Fron-
tera Occidental de Guatemala, Bufete Jurídico de Derechos Humanos, IBIS 
Guatemala, Asociacion de Mujeres Aqabal, Agronomos y veterinarios sin 
Fronteras (Francia), Asociación Consejo de Unidad Campesina de Guate-
mala CUC-G, Asociacion Civil Gente Positiva, Asociacion Union Nacional 
de Mujeres Guatemaltecas, Centro de accion legal ambiental y social de 
Guatemala, Instituto de Estudios Comparados en Ciencias Penales de Gu-
atemala 

Honduras (7) Number of partner organizations: 15
Foro ACT Honduras/HEKS, Asociacion Comite por la Libre Expresion, Aso-
ciacion Colectivo Violeta, Fundacion para la Salvaguardia del Medio Am-
biente en el Democratico Desarrollo Socioeconomico y de las Instituciones, 
Asociación Red Comités de Migrantes y Familiares de Honduras, ASONOG, 
Centro de Estudios de la Mujer - Honduras, Organismo Cristiano de De-
sarrollo Integral de Honduras, Movimiento de Mujeres por la Paz Visitaci-
on Padilla, Comisión de Acción Social Menonita, Comite de Familiares de 
Detenidos Desaparecidos en Honduras, Fundacion San Alonso Rodriguez, 
Fundacion Equipo de Reflexion Investigacion y Comunicacion de la Com-
pania de Jesus, Centro de Derechos de Mujeres, Christian Aid (as partner 
in Central America)

Kenya (9) Number of partner organizations: 21
International Budget Partnership, Christian Impact Mission, Kenya Human 
Rights Commission, ACK Nakuru Region InterDiocesan Christian Commu-
nity Services, Poverty Eradication Network, Katiba Institute, Legal Resour-
ces Foundation, Catholic Diocese of Kitui- Caritas Kitui, Inuka Kenya Ni Sisi 
Limited, International Center for Policy and Conflict, Independent Medico 
Legal Unit, Inter-Religious Council of Kenya, Transparency International 
Kenya, Uraia Trust, Grassroots Organization Operating Together in Sister-
hood Kenya Association, Kenya conference of catholic bishops, National 
Council of Churches of Kenya, Anglican Development Services - Nyanza, 
Federation of Women Lawyers - Kenya, Reality of Aid Africa Network, Tax 
Justice Network - Africa

Lebanon (11) Number of partner organizations: 12
Arcenciel, Dar Al Amal, Lebanese Women Democratic Gathering, Com-
munity Based Rehabilitation Association, Association Najdeh, Lebanese 
Observatory for Rights of Workers and Employees, Developmental Action 
without Borders, Arab NGO Network for Development, Lebanese Physical 
Handicapped Union, ABAAD-Resource Center for Gender Equality, Leba-
non Support, ALEF-act for human rights

Mali (12) Number of partner organizations: 20
Comité d’Appui au Developpement de la jeunesse, Observatoire des Droits 
Humains et de la Paix-ODHP, Norwegian Church Aid, Helvetas Swiss In-
tercooperation, SNV Netherlands Development Organisation, Association 
pour la Formation et le developpement GLD III 2014-2017, Association 
Malienne pour la Survie au Sahel GLD 2014-2017, Action pour le Develop-

pement Integré, Coalition pour l’Annulation de la Dette au GLD III 2014-
2017, Yam-Giribolo-Tumo GLDIII 2014-2017, Oui pour une Enfance Noble au 
Mali, Association Malienne pour la Promotion au Sahel, Association d’Appui 
au Developpement Communautaire, Women in Law and Development in 
Africa Mali, Coalition des Alternatives Africaines Dette et Developpement 
Mali, Reseau Plaidoyer Lobbying, Yam-Giribolo-Tumo, Service de Develop-
pement Integré, Association de Formation et d’Appui au Developpement, 
Association Malienne pour la Survie au Sahel

Moçambique (13) Number of partner organizations: 22
Associacao Coalizao da Juventude Moçambicana, Organizacao para Re-
solucao de Conflitos, Observatorio de Cidadania de Mocambique, Associ-
acao AHITIPALUXENE, Associacao para o Desenvolvimento Sustentável das 
Comunidades OKHALIHERA, Associacao de Cegos e Ambliopes de Mocam-
bique, Associacao Amigos da Crianca Boa Esperanca, Associacao Mulher 
Lei e Desenvolvimento, Rede da Crianca, Liga dos Direitos Humanos, As-
sociacao Parlamento Juvenil, Centro de Estudo de Democracia e Desen-
volvimento, Associacao Mocambicana das Mulheres de Carreira Juridica, 
Rede Contra Abuso de Menores, Centro de Aprendizagem e Capacitação 
da Sociedade Civil, Nucleo de Amigos da Natureza e do Ambiente, ASSO-
CIACAO JUVENIL OTHOKO, Forum das Radios Comunitarias de Moçambi-
que, Gender Links Mozambique, Instituto Fanelo Ya Mina, Associacao para 
o Desenvolvimento das Mulheres de Morrua, Associacao das Mulheres Do-
mesticas da Zambezia 

Myanmar/Burma (14) Number of partner organizations: 11
Thingaha Gender Organization, Kalyana Mitta Foundation, Myanmar 
Baptist Convention, Charity Oriented Myanmar, World Concern Myanmar, 
NGO Gender Group, Equality Myanmar (EQMM)/ Formerly Human Rights 
Education Institute of Burma, Karen Baptist Convention, Myanmar Council 
of Churches, Knowledge and Dedication for Nation Building/Karen Deve-
lopment Network, Women’s Organizations Network

Nicaragua (15) Number of partner organizations: 11
Asociacion de Mujeres Indigenas Costa Atlantica AMICA, Instituto de Li-
derazgo de las Segovias., Centro Alexander Von Humboldt, Centro de 
Derechos Humanos, Ciudadanos y Autonomicos, Centro por la Justicia 
y Derechos Humanos de la Costa Atlántica de Nicaragua (CEJUDHCAN), 
Centro de Prevencion de la Violencia, Centro Nicaraguense de Derechos 
Humanos, Accion Médica Cristiana, Instituto para el Desarrollo y la Demo-
cracia, Coordinadora Pueblos Indígenas Chorotegas, Centro de Informaci-
on y Servicios de Asesoria en Salud

Palestine and Israel (16) Number of partner organizations: 33
Baseera Forum for Blind, Future Society for Deaf Adults, Palestinian Med-
ical Relief Society, Farah Center, Women Affairs Technical Committee, 
Tamer Institute for Community Education, Palestinian Counseling Center, 
Project Loving Care Society/Mother Establishment of the Saraya Center 
for Community Service, Al-Nayzak for Supportive Education and Scientific 
Innovation R.A., AL SABEEL CENTER, Physicians for Human Rights Israel, 
Yes Theatre for Communication among Youth, Basma Society for Culture 
and Arts, Bethlehem Arab Society for Rehabilitation, National Society for 
Rehabilitation, Deir Al Balah Rehabilitation Society, Al-Haq, BADIL Resource 
Center for Palestinian Residency and Refugee Rights, Al Mezan Centre For 
Human Rights, B’Tselem – The Israeli Information Center for Human Rights 
in the Occupied Territories, Kerem Navot (Naboth’s Vineyard), Palestine 
Medical Relief Society, CBR Nablus, Voices society for the rights of persons 
with intellectual disability, General Union of Palestinians with disability, 
Bethlehem branch, Palestinian Consultative Staff for Developing NGOs, 
Al Salam Sports Club for persons with disabilities, The Jerusalem Princess 
Basma Center for disabled children, Society of St Yves, Catholic Center 
for Human Rights, Palestinian Vision Organization, Community Based Re-
habilitation Association (CBR central West bank), Legal Action Worldwide 
(LAW), Gisha - Legal Centre for freedom of movement, Who Profits, Dan-
ChurchAid (as partner Palestine)

Paraguay (17) Number of partner organizations: 12
Coordinadora de Líderes Indígenas del Bajo Chaco, Memetic.Media, Orga-
nización de Mujeres Campesinas e Indígenas, Instituto de Estudios Com-
parados en Ciencias Penales y Sociales, Tierraviva a los Pueblos Indígenas 
del Chaco, Panambi Asociacion de Travestis, Transgeneros y Transexuales, 
Coordinadora de Derechos Humanos del Paraguay, Federación Nacional 
Campesina, Servicio Paz y Justicia Paraguay, Asociación Nacional de 
Productores Agropecuarios, Base Investigaciones Sociales, Centro de Do-
cumentación y Estudios

Peru (18) Number of partner organizations: 17
Centro para el Desarrollo de los Pueblos Ayllu, Asociación Servicios Educa-
tivos Rurales, Comisión de Derechos Humanos de Ica, Centro de Desarrollo 

Andino Sisay, Asociación de Comunicadores Sociales, CALANDRIA, Centro 
de la Mujer Peruana, Flora Tristán, Coordinadora Nacional de Derechos 
Humanos, Comisión Episcopal de Acción Social, Instituto de Defensa Legal, 
Asociación Pro Derechos Humanos, COOPERACCION, Acción Solidaria 
para el Desarrollo, Centro Peruano de Estudios Sociales, Asociación Para 
el Desarrollo Andino Amazónico - Huñuq Mayu, DEMUS Estudio para la De-
fensa de los Derechos de la Mujer, Movimiento Ciudadano frente al Cambio 
Climático, GRUPO CULTURAL YUYACHKANI 

Somalia (19) Number of partner organizations: 8
Puntland Office of Human Rights Defender, Ministry of Constitution Fe-
deral Affairs & Democratisation, Puntland, Galkayo Education Center for 
Peace and Development, Kaalo Aid and Development Organization, Forum 
For African Women Educationalists- Somalia Chapter, Samo Development 
Organization, Somali Family Services, We are Women Activists

Sri Lanka (20) Number of partner organizations: 11
Womens Development Centre, Plantation Rural Education and Develop-
ment Organization, Eastern Human and Economic Development, Law and 
Society Trust, Transparency International Sri Lanka, Sri Lanka Centre for 
Development Facilitation, Peoples Action for Free and Fair Elections, Sam-
adana/m, Centre for Environmental Justice, Eco Friendly Volunteers (ECO 
V), Muslim Women’s Research & Action Forum

Thailand (21) Number of partner organizations: 15
Help Without Frontiers Foundation Thailand, The Border Consortium, De-
velopment Center for Children and Community Network, Thailand Lahu 
Development Foundation, Inter Mountain Peoples Education and Culture 
in Thailand Association, The Foundation of the Church of Christ in Thai-
land, Upland Holistic Development Project, The Mirror Foundation, MAP 
Foundation, New Life Center Foundation, Micro Economic Development 
Foundation, Spirit in Education Movement, Karen Development and Service 
Foundation, Foundation of Child Understanding, Center for Girls

Uganda (22) Number of partner organizations: 21
Deutsche Stiftung Weltbevoelkerung, Uganda Office, Rights Evidence 
Action Limited, Chapter Four Uganda, The Cross-Cultural Foundation of 
Uganda, Gulu Women’s Economic Development and Globalization, Cen-
tre for Policy Analysis Limited, Born Again Faith Federation (BAFFe)-Acholi 
Sub Region, Civil Society Budget Advocacy Group, Southern and Eastern 
African Trade, Information and Negotiations Institute - Uganda, Eastern 
African Sub-Regional Initiative for the Advancement of Women, African 
Youth Development Link, Teso Initiative for Peace, Forum for Women in De-
mocracy, Action for Development, Church of Uganda - Planning, Devt. & 
Rehabilitation, Uganda Womens’ Network, Human Rights Network - Ugan-
da, Uganda Joint Christian Council, Justice and Peace Commission, Gulu 
Archdiocese, Human Rights Focus, ZOA Uganda

Zambia (23) Number of partner organizations: 5
Caritas Zambia, Jesuit Centre for Theological Reflection, Foundation for 
Democratic Process, Extractive Industries Transparency Alliance, Youth Al-
liance for Development

Zimbabwe (24) Number of partner organizations: 9
Heal Zimbabwe Trust, Youth Empowerment and Transformation Trust, Wo-
men in Politics Support Unit, Emthonjeni Womens Forum, Womens Institu-
te for Leadership Development, Zimbabwe Council of Churches, Musasa, 
Zimbabwe Womens Resource Centre and Network, African Network & Fo-
rum on Debt and Development

Latin America Regional Number of partner organizations: 8
Observatorio de Conflictos Mineros de America Latina, Red de salud de las 
mujeres latinoamericanas y del Caribe, Centro por la Justicia y el Derecho 
Internacional, Red Latinoamericana de Mujeres Defensoras de los De-
rechos Sociales y Ambientales, Red de Jóvenes por los Derechos Sexuales 
y Reproductivos, Womens link worldwide, Centro de Estudios de Derecho, 
Justicia y Sociedad, Comité de America Latina y el Caribe para la defensa 
de los derechos de las mujeres, Colombia Diversa

Africa Regional Number of partner organizations: 3
Women in Law and Development, Gender Links, Bench Marks Foundation 

Partner organizations Partner organizations
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José Hermogenes Garcia lives in La Cuchilla, in the mountains of northern Honduras, and is one 
of the participants in Diakonia’s partner organizations CASM’s and OCDIH’s courses in sustainable 
farming. When we meet him, all the course participants have assembled and José is giving them 
breakfast: homemade bread and beans from his plot. Abel Ramos, another participant, has brought 
some almost perfectly ripened oranges from his own plot.

“Nature is our best friend, but we often treat it as if it were our worst enemy. We can’t go on using 
so many chemicals for farming – it’s making both people and animals sick,” he says.

By implementing permaculture, as the form of sustainable farming that OCDIH teaches is known, 
161 families have been able to improve their diet by growing crops that suit the climate and by growing 
and rotating crops that suit the climate. These families have also managed to adapt to growing  
climate change in the area by creating systems for not depleting the earth, conserving water during 
the rainy season and converting manure into biogas.

”Nature is our 
best friend”

INTRODUCTION
Diakonia hereby presents its first sustainability re-
port. The report is based on a materiality analysis1 to 
make sure that the most important perspectives of 
partner organizations, rights holders and other rele-
vant stakeholders are included in Diakonia’s strate-
gic sustainability work and reporting. It is essential 
for Diakonia that all its activities are characterised 
by accountability and a sustainability perspective. 
The aim of the report is to describe the policies and 
procedures that form the cornerstones of the orga-
nization’s work for a sustainable world. In the report 
we also analyse and reflect on weaknesses that need 
to be addressed in order for Diakonia to improve 
and develop. 

REPORT PROFILE, STRUCTURE  
AND LIMITATIONS
The sustainability report has been drafted in accor-
dance with the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) 
G4 Guidelines, Core level, including NGO Sector 
Disclosures. The report covers all Diakonia’s work 
in Sweden and internationally. Diakonia’s sustaina-
bility report is produced annually, and this report 
concerns the 2017 calendar year. Each year, selected 
areas are followed up using specific indicators. The 
report was produced by Diakonia’s management 
team and has been approved by the Board. It is part 
of the annual report and is covered by PWC’s audit 
in accordance with the Swedish Institute of Autho-

rised Public Accountants’ recommendation REVR 
12. The report is presented to the Annual Meeting, 
Diakonia’s highest governing body. 

DIAKONIA’S INTERVENTION AREAS AND THE 
UN’S SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT GOALS
Through the 2030 Agenda, the countries of the 
world have undertaken to lead development towards 
a sustainable and just future. This enhances oppor-
tunities to work in a coordinated way for long-term 
sustainable economic, social and environmental 
change and to hold governments accountable for 
their commitments. The 17 Sustainable Develop- 
ment Goals (SDGs) encompassed by the 2030 Ag-
enda aim to end all forms of poverty, fight inequa-
lities and tackle climate change, while ensuring that 
no one is left behind. At their core are human rights 
and gender equality, and the protection of our planet 
and natural resources is to be guaranteed. Diakonia 
strives towards and is to actively work to achieve the 
SDGs through long-term work on development coo-
peration, emergency response and advocacy.

Diakonia’s vision for a just, equal and sustainable 
world and its mandate to work with the root causes 
of poverty and inequality provides good opportuni-
ties and conditions to contribute. Although the SDGs 
aim at guaranteeing the fundamental rights of all 
people, they are not to replace other more specific or 
widely adopted commitments to human rights, de-
mocracy and gender equality. As a new and univer-

Sustainability  
Report 2017

 1) Materiality analysis is a method of identifying key aspects that is used in line with GRI’s Sustainability Reporting Guidelines. 
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sally adopted commitment, the 2030 Agenda can be 
used to pursue the various demands of rights holders 
and partner organizations, but an analysis is needed 
in each context to determine its relevance in com-
parison with other tools. Diakonia works with local 
partner organizations and other strategic actors for 
the fulfilment of the right of all people to live a life 
in dignity, based on a rights holder perspective. Dia-
konia’s close partnership with local organizations 
and actors is in line with the joint principles that the 
UN established for the implementation of the 2030 
Agenda. Local ownership, participation and engage-
ment are vital for reaching the goals. The 2030 Ag-
enda touches on all aspects of Diakonia’s work, and 
shall therefore be integrated and internalized within 
the current work. Diakonias work, as described in 
the Global Strategy 2015–2020, primarily contribu-
tes to Sustainable Development Goals 1, 2, 5, 8, 10, 
13, 16 and 17 2.

MATERIAL ASPECTS AND INDICATORS
The material aspects presented on the next page 
have been identified as the most significant for Dia-
konia’s sustainability work. This assessment has 
been made by Diakonia’s employees, in collabora-
tion with partner organizations and rights holders, 
but also reflects the perspectives of other relevant 
stakeholders. The aspects are categorized into eco-
nomic, environmental and social aspects. 

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT
Diakonia works with rights holders, local organi-
zations and other relevant actors that contribute to 
change in different roles and capacities. Working 
in long-term partnerships with well-established or-
ganizations is the most important strategy. In the 
same way that Diakonia is an actor in Swedish civil 
society, our partner organizations are actors in their 
own right in their respective countries. Diakonia’s 

Diakonia’s Intervention areas Diakonia’s global objectives  Sustainable Development  
    Goals (SDG:s) 

Human Rights  • Empowerment of human rights defenders 1, 5, 10, 16, 17
  • Fulfilment of women’s rights
  • Fulfilment of human rights commitments

Democracy • Democratic culture 1, 5, 10, 16, 17
  • Women’s political participation
  • Good governance
  • Enabling environment for civil society

Gender equality • Combating gender based violence 1, 5, 10, 17
  • Sexual and reproductive health and rights
  • Men and boys for gender equality
  • LGBTI people's rigths

Social and economic justice • Fair distribution of wealth and access to  
   natural resources 1, 2, 5, 8, 10, 13, 16, 17
  • Decent work and fair income
  • Economic empowerment of women
  • Sustainable development and climate justice

Conflict and justice • Protection in armed conflict 1, 5, 16, 17
  • Peacebuilding
  • Women peace and security
  • Policy coherence for peace

Emergency response and  • Preparedness, relief and recovery 1, 2, 13, 17
disaster resilience • Disaster risk management

Diakonia’s intervention areas and global objectives Materiality analysis
   Aspects 
  1. Procurement practices 
  2. Economic performance 
  3. Socially responsible investments 
  4. CO

2
 emissions 

  5. Skills development 
  6. Diversity and equal opportunities 
  7. Security practices 
  8. Anti-corruption and complaints mechanism 
  9. Planning, monitoring, evaluation and learning  
  10. Gender equality and diversity 
  11. Public awareness and trust 
  12. Financial sustainability   
  13. Positive impact on the environment through project  
   support and advocacy work 
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2) sustainabledevelopment.un.org/sdgs or see page 9.
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Rosa Estela Perez has taken part in CASM’s and OCDIH’s courses in sustainable 
organic farming. She comes from Lempira, Honduras. Photo: Ezequiel Sanchez.
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The following is a description of those areas of spe-
cial interest to ensure ethics, integrity and accounta-
bility in Diakonia’s operations.

The Code of Conduct. Diakonia upholds the hig-
hest ethical and professional standards throughout 
all operations.

Everyone working for, or representing, Diakonia 
has an obligation to act in accordance with legisla-
tion and Diakonia’s Code of Conduct. Everyone is 
also obliged to prevent irregularities including cor-
ruption, fraud, sexual exploitation and abuse and 
to ensure that no child is harmed in any way. The 
main purpose of the Diakonia Code of Conduct, 
which all employees sign on employment, is to out-
line the key responsibilities of employees in relation 
to the people for whom Diakonia works, their wel- 
fare and their rights. The aim is to protect all rights 
holders, partner organizations, citizens, employees 
and other stakeholders with whom we come into 

contact. The Code of Conduct also seeks to help Dia-
konia’s employees to better understand the behavio-
ur expected of them and their obligations. Managers 
at all levels in Diakonia are responsible for ensuring 
that all staff are aware of the content of the Code of 
Conduct and how it applies. 

Work on corruption. Corruption5 is acknowledged 
to be one of the greatest constraints in fighting po-
verty and ultimately affects individuals. It has pro-
ved to have harmful and sometimes devastating 
effects on investments and economic growth, admi-
nistrative performance and efficiency, and political 
development. It stifles entrepreneurial spirit, misu-
ses national resources, and weakens administrative 
capacity and democracy. For Diakonia, civil society 
participation in fighting corruption is a priority. 
 Without the presence of civil society in monitoring 
and scrutinising politicians and political decisions, 
the allocation of public funds and the performance 

Actors Definition  Role 

Area  Steering document   Level of decision 

Stakeholder engagement 

Policies and steering documents

Guiding documents 

Overall Diakonia’s statues
Global policy
Global strategy 2015–2020
Humanitarian policy
Order of delegation
PME Handbook
Action plan for gender equality

Annual Meeting
Annual Meeting
Annual Meeting
Board of Directors
Board of Directors
Head of department
Secretary General

Finance 

Investments  
Resource mobilization  

Investment policy 
Global fundraising policy  

Board of Directors
Board of Directors

Procurement Procurement guidelines Secretary General

Environment

Environment Environment policy
Environment implementation plan  

Board of Directors
Secretary General

Social

Anti-corruption Anticorruption guidelines Secretary General

Human Resources Human Resource policy
Human Resource handbook  
Code of conduct
Work Environment policy

Board of Directors
Head of department
Board of Directors
Board of Directors

Child protection Child Safeguarding policy Board of Directors

Accountability and transparency  Complaints and Respons Mechanism 
policy

Board of Directors

Transparency and Accountability gui-
delines 

Secretary General

3) Diakonia’s two guiding principles: Strategy for how rights-based change is to take place and guidelines for long-term, respectful partnership.
4) Diakonia’s definition: “Accountability is the means through which power is used responsibly. It is a process of taking into account the views of, and being held accountable 
by, different stakeholders, and primarily the people affected by the power exercised.”
5) Diakonia works according to a definition that includes both civil society and the public and private sectors: “Corruption is the abuse of power for illegitimate individual or 
group benefit.” Diakonia has zero tolerance of corruption.

Rights holders All people are rights holders but in this 
context  it refers to ”people who have 
been denied their human rights”

Their human rights are denied/violated, 
but they are the main driver for change 
processes

Partner organizations A wide group of non-state actors wor-
king for sustainable change at local, 
national, regional and international level

They are drivers of change processes and 
working together with the rights holders

Founding churches The Swedish Alliance Mission and the 
Uniting Church in Sweden

The founding churches give Diakonia a 
mandate and legitimacy. They appoint  
members of the Board 

Support groups in Sweden Includes congregations, activists,  
delegates and individuals in Sweden

They provide the support base and legiti-
macy to do advocacy work in Sweden and 
support Diakonia’s global work

Networks and alliances Platforms for civil society actors at local, 
national and global level 

Provide space for coordination, sharing 
experiences and knowledge and advocacy 
activities

Duty bearers/civil  
servants/authorities 

People and institutions in position of 
power in for example public authorities, 
ministries, institutions or political parties

Their positions and power are instrumental 
for creating a just, equal and sustainable 
world. They are responsible for compliance 
with legal and formal requirements

Private sector Large corporations, medium, small, 
micro and individual enterprises

They have potential to contribute positively 
or negatively to sustainable development 
and the respect for human rights

Donors (private and institutional) Institutions, companies and individu-
als that provide funding for Diakonia’s 
operations

Provide funding and partner with Diakonia 
in development and humanitarian work 

Diakonia employees Diakonia staff working at head office 
or in a country- or regional office in the 
programme countries

They are employed by Diakonia and  contri-
bute to change from their different roles 
and positions

Service providers Service providers supplying Diakonia 
with goods and services 

They provide Diakonia with services (for 
example consultants) or goods (for example 
office supply) 

Media Journalists and newsrooms They have the possibility to spread  
Diakonia's message and to influence public 
opinion through media

role as “accompanying partner”, of which dialogue 
based on trust is a key component, has been defined 
as a strategic added value. Diakonia is constantly ai-
ming at increasing partner organizations’ and rights 
holders’ participation and influence in operations, 
as local ownership is fundamental for sustainabili-
ty. The work on making changes to unfair structures 
cannot be performed in isolation. This is why other 
forms of alliances and new, innovative approaches 
and relationships based on common values are also 
necessary. One such example is the work with the 
private sector in its role as an actor in the develop-
ment agenda. The table below shows all stakehol-

ders with whom Diakonia engages. Stakeholders 
are encouraged to monitor Diakonia’s performance 
against its commitments and hold Diakonia accoun-
table, should we fall short of our commitments.

MANAGEMENT APPROACH 
Ethics and integrity. Diakonia’s commitment to up-
hold the highest standards throughout its work is go-
verned by its two guiding principles 3, which also guide 
Diakonia’s practice of accountability. 4 To follow up on 
its commitments, Diakonia has adopted a set of im-
portant frameworks, policies and guidelines. An over-
view of these is provided in the table on the next page. 
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of employees in the public sector, anti-corruption 
work risks failing. Diakonia’s internal work shall 
also be characterized by a high professional standard 
as regards fighting corruption. This means clear ma-
nagerial responsibility and delegation of responsi-
bilities, along with capacity building. All employees 
are to adhere to Diakonia’s policies, manuals and 
handbooks, which are our tools for preventing cor-
ruption. The partner organizations should also take 
responsibility in their work and act as role models 
where they operate. The follow-up work that Dia-
konia’s employees perform is perhaps the best tool 
for making checks, identifying weakness and risks 
in dialogue with the partner organizations, and sol-
ving problems. 

Complaints and incident management. As part 
of an ongoing process to improve accountability, 
Diakonia has introduced a complaints mechanism 
so that Diakonia’s employees can use the system to 
report incidents. The system also makes it possible 
for individuals and organizations to submit com- 
plaints and give feedback on Diakonia’s and its part-
ner organizations’ work. There may be occasions 
when Diakonia does not meet the expectations of all 
stakeholders, or is failing to live up to its commit-
ments. When or if this occurs, rights holders, part-
ner organizations, other stakeholders and Diakonia 
staff have the right to report this. Complaints and 
incidents are handled in the strictest confidence and 
reports can be made anonymously. 

Indicator 2017
The total number of confirmed incidents that led to 
cooperation being terminated due to corruption: 3

The total number of breaches of Diakonia’s Code of 
Conduct that led to an employee or representative 
of Diakonia being dismissed: 2

Example of a case finalised in 2017. During the as-
sessment of a partner organization’s annual report, 
it was suspected that the partner organization had 
used Diakonia funding inappropriately. An investi-
gation showed that some funds had not been used 
according to the contract with Diakonia. The part-
ner organization was asked to pay back that sum, 
and the partnership was ended.

Risk management. In 2017, risk analyses were 
conducted by the Board and the management team, 
taking both internal and external factors into consi-
deration. The overall objective of Diakonia’s risk 
management is to work in a systematic way to iden-
tify, analyse and manage risks that may prevent the 
fulfilment of the organization’s objectives at stra-
tegy, programme, project and grant level. All risks 
are categorised as either contextual or operational. 
Contextual risks are always external and derive from 
factors beyond Diakonia’s control. Operational risks 
derive from either our own operations, or from the 
operations of partner organizations or other imple-
menting stakeholders. Diakonia uses the COSO mo-
del6 to calculate risks. Risk management is a deci-
sion making process that involves choosing between 
at least four options: accepting, avoiding, mitigating 
or eliminating the risk.  

Indicator 2017
Percentage of programmes including corruption in 
the risk analysis: 32%

The indicator shows the need to continue to  
strengthen Diakonia’s capacity for risk management 
and for analysis and follow-up on the risk of cor-
ruption in its programmes over the coming year.

Finances. Diakonia’s goal is to ensure that the or-
ganization’s funds are used in the best possible 
way, thus contributing to sustainable change for 
the rights holders. Economic sustainability includes 
compliance with legislation, and ensuring that col-
lection and resource mobilization takes place in an 
efficient and ethical manner, that finances are ma-
naged and followed up in a correct and transparent 
way, and that procedures and control mechanisms 
are in place and applied. Some of the most impor-
tant aspects are analysed in the following section. 

Economic performance. Diakonia’s economic per-
formance is presented in the annual accounts. 

Socially responsible investments. Diakonia’s 
investment policy highlights the need to consider 
environmental, social and ethical aspects in its in-
vestments. The criteria have been divided into two 
complementary groups. The first group refers to the 

advocacy areas used to identify improvement po-
tential in the companies in which Diakonia invests, 
for example in human rights, working conditions, 
environmental issues and corruption. The second 
group refers to exclusion criteria for activities and 
products that Diakonia actively distances itself from 
and in which it refuses to invest. These criteria are 
based on a number of international guidelines re-
garding the relevant environment, social and ethical 
aspects. 

Financial sustainability. All resource mobilisa-
tion at Diakonia is to comply with the policy in this 
area, as well as Diakonia’s overall ethical approach. 
In 2017, the process of updating the current global 
resource mobilisation policy was initiated, and de-
veloping specific ethical criteria for acquiring funds 
is one of the prioritised areas. The updated policy is 
expected to be completed and adopted by the Board 
in 2018. One goal for Diakonia’s financial sustaina-
bility in the long term is to increase the level of di-
versification in funding. A key sub-goal is to increase 
fundraising from private donors. A higher degree of 
diversification presumes greater capacity to colla-
borate with, and manage funding from, various ty-
pes of donors. Diakonia has worked on developing 
structures, systems, tools and capacity for resource 
mobilisation and the management of funds. The de-
centralised organizational structure has provided 
greater scope for employees to approach donors at 
different levels. It also makes the development of se-
veral central functions necessary, such as identify-
ing synergies between programmes, strengthening 
supporting and controlling mechanisms, benefitting 
from global and international donors and alliances, 
and boosting innovation.

Indicator 2017
Percentage of income from Swedish state funding 
via Sida or other Swedish agencies: 73%

Total number of private donors: 10 669

Procurement practices. Diakonia sets a high stan-
dard for its own work. Diakonia’s procurement guide- 
lines are to apply to all purchases where Diakonia 
funds are used to pay for goods and consultancy ser-
vices. The guidelines help Diakonia’s staff ensure that 

purchases are as transparent, fair, environmentally 
friendly and cost-efficient as possible. All suppliers 
are to adhere to Diakonia’s procurement principles. 
For consultants, Diakonia’s Code of Conduct also 
applies. The procurement guidelines are linked to 
Diakonia’s anti-corruption work. When an employ-
ee uses the guidelines, this also serves as insurance 
against unethical or corrupt actions when negotiating 
or purchasing goods from suppliers. The rules also 
help the employee in charge of procurement compare 
quotes from different suppliers. 

Environmental aspects. Systematically working 
with and following up on environmental issues is 
a strategic decision and an important area in Dia-
konia’s sustainability work. This decision is based on 
the fact that the destruction of ecosystems is affec-
ting peoples’ lives and livelihoods. Climate change 
is a global threat to human survival and its effects 
are felt the most in developing countries. Diakonia 
seeks to exert a positive influence on this develop-
ment by supporting partner organizations that focus 
on sustainable development, including through the 
responsible use of land and natural resources. Also, 
Diakonia advocates for climate justice and pro- 
motes resilience and the ability to adapt. Diakonia’s 
environmental policy and global implementation 
plan was adopted by the Board in January 2016. 
The implementation plan defines global goals, ac-
tivities and indicators to promote joint planning, 
implementation and monitoring in the area of en-
vironmental management. Diakonia and its partner 
organizations have been working with environment 
and climate change issues for many years, and many 
good initiatives have been implemented throughout 
the organization. One example is the “Environme-
ntal Lens”, which was developed as a tool to inte- 
grate environmental issues at programme and pro-
ject level. Despite this, it is clear that there is a need 
to further strengthen environmental mainstrea-
ming. Diakonia is an international organization 
with operations in 25 countries. The work requires 
travel within and between countries. When travel-
ling, means of transport that have less impact on the 
environment shall be prioritised. Diakonia will con-
tinue to develop its procedures for environmental 
management to reduce carbon emissions. All staff 
report the number of days they travel and calculate 

6) The Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) is a global framework for risk analysis and risk management. 
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their CO2 emissions. However, these procedures are 
still not fully in place in all offices, and the statistics 
are therefore not reliable. In 2017, Diakonia decided 
to implement a new model for collecting data on and 
calculating CO2 emissions. The model will be used 
from 2018. Diakonia is also to produce goals and 
plans for reducing its emissions.

Diakonia does not carbon offset its operations be-
cause we think that this jeopardises the necessary 
focus on helping to reduce emissions and that the 
present emissions trading system is ineffective.
All offices implemented measures in 2017 to mini-
mise the environmental impact from travel and ve-
hicle use. A few examples are improved procedures 
for planning trips and visits, a reduced number of 
trips, coordinated field trips and more video confe-
rences. In 2017 Diakonia supported approximately 
50 partner organizations and projects that focus on 
the environment or climate change. Examples of 
focal areas are natural resources, sustainable water 
management, community rights in hydropower de-
velopment, agricultural monitoring and consump-
tion patterns. Diakonia and its partner organiza-
tions have also carried out advocacy and networking 
activities related to climate change. Advocacy work 
for climate justice is one of the main focal areas in 
the Sweden programme, and Diakonia is part of the 
ACT Alliance’s campaign for climate justice. Skills 
development regarding climate change and its ef-
fects, internally and among partner organizations, is 
crucial to achieving the goals in the implementation 
plan. The figures below show the number of activi-
ties carried out in 2017. 

Indicator 2017
Number of capacity building initiatives aimed at 
partner organizations (climate justice and environ-
mental issues): 57

Number of internal capacity building initiatives  
(climate justice and environmental issues): 30

Social. Diakonia’s vision and mission are based on 
theological reflection and universal human rights. 
Diakonia’s global strategy for 2015–2020 directs 
the organization’s operations. Diakonia works for 
the fulfilment of the right of all people to live a life 
in dignity – irrespective of age, class, disability, eth-

nicity, gender, nationality, political conviction, reli-
gion, or sexual orientation and identity. Diakonia’s 
programmes have been prepared on the basis of a 
thorough contextual analysis and strategic choice of 
intervention areas to ensure the programmes’ rele-
vance in the specific contexts. Diakonia believes that 
there is no stronger driver for change than when  
people know their rights and organize themselves in 
order to claim those rights. By empowering people 
living in poverty or marginalisation to actively par-
ticipate in democratic processes, and by challenging 
duty bearers, real and sustainable change can be 
achieved. Diakonia’s operations are characterised 
by our guiding principles and a rights perspective 
(which includes participation, accountability, free-
dom from discrimination, equality and a clear link 
to legislation and undertakings regarding human 
rights). Diakonia strives to ensure that all its opera-
tions take a gender equality perspective (with par-
ticular focus on the active participation and rights 
of women and girls). This is a requirement for tack-
ling structural injustices giving rise to poverty and 
it contributes to initiatives that are sustainable in 
the long term. Diakonia’s humanitarian work is go-
verned by the humanitarian principles of humanity, 
impartiality, neutrality and independence.   

Planning, monitoring, evaluation and learning. 
In order for Diakonia to contribute in the best pos-
sible way to long-term economic, social and en-
vironmental sustainability, we strive for high quali-
ty and accountability in all our operations. Diakonia 
uses results-based management to ensure that all 
funds are used to achieve the stated results and that 
lessons to be learned are identified and integrated in 
the work. Quality assurance covers all processes to 
ensure effectiveness and appropriateness, reliabili-
ty of reporting and compliance with applicable laws 
and regulations. Diakonia’s guidelines for planning, 
monitoring and evaluation are the most important 
steering document for internal control. The guideli-
nes contain instructions for both long-term deve-
lopment cooperation work and humanitarian work. 

Human resources. The key factor for success and 
sustainability in our organization and operation is 
to have professionally skilled and committed staff. 
Diakonia strives to achieve a work environment cha-

racterised by mutual respect and encouragement 
to engage in professional growth, open communi-
cation and gender equality. All employees are to be 
provided with equal opportunities to participate in 
structuring their work situation. All managers are 
to promote diversity and equal opportunities at the 
workplace and work together with the employees to 
achieve this. Diakonia has started to follow up on and 
annually evaluate how the organization is complying 
with the provisions on diversity. The work is based 
on the eight grounds of discrimination defined in the 
Discrimination Act of 2017. We strive to maintain a 
high professional standard and provide good condi-
tions for staff to develop their skills. Skills develop-

ment is to an increasing extent designed to be easily  
accessible and to support professional, personal and 
organizational growth. In 2017, Diakonia joined the 
ActLearn e-learning platform to strengthen and fur-
ther develop systematic learning. E-learning pro- 
vides increased opportunities for staff to participate 
in important and relevant training programmes, as 
well as improving the spread and exchange of know-
ledge within our decentralized organization. The re-
gions will be introduced to the platform in 2018.

Indicator 2017
Number of staff who participated in e-learning 
courses organized by ActLearn: 15
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SPECIFIC STANDARD DISCLOSURES FOR THE NGO SECTOR

ECONOMIC PERFORMANCE 

G4-EC1 Direct economic value generated and distributed ............................................................... page 33, 37-38 
G4-DMA Resource allocation .............................................................................................................. page 9, 33, 37
G4-DMA Procedures related to monitoring of compliance with policy of acceptance of donations,  
  including gifts in kind  .......................................................................................................... page 30, 57 
NGO8 Sources of founding by category and five largest donors and monetary value of their  
  contributiong  ....................................................................................................................... page 38 
  
ENVIRONMENTAL 

G4-EN27 Extent of impact mitigation of environmental impacts of products and services ................ page 57-58
  
SOCIAL  

G4-LA10 Programs for skills management and lifelong learning that support the continued  
  employability of employees and assist them in managing their career endings  ................. page 30, 59 
G4-DMA Labour Practices Grievance Mechanisms ............................................................................ page 30, 56, 57 
  
SOCIETY 
  
G4-SO3 Total number and percentage of operations assessed for risks related to corruption and  
  the significant risks identified .............................................................................................. page 56 
G4-SO5 Confirmed incidents of corruption and actions taken .......................................................... page 56

GRI Index
Below you find an index of Diakonia's report according to GRI level G4-Core including NGO Sector Disclosure. 

GENERAL STANDARD DISCLOSURES

STRATEGY AND ANALYSIS

G4-1 Statement from Secretary General ..................................................................... page 11 
  
ORGANISATIONAL PROFIL
 
G4-3 Name of the organisation .................................................................................... page 1, 2, 27 
 G4-4 Primary services .................................................................................................. page 8-9, 12-25, 27-29, 52 
 G4-5 Location of headquarters .................................................................................... page 6, 31, 46-47 
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THE AUDITOR’S REPORT ON THE STATUTORY SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
To the annual meeting of Diakonia, corporate identity number 802017-3517

Engagement and responsibility
The Board of Directors is responsible for that the statutory sustainability report for 2017 on the pages 
51-61 has been prepared in accordance with the Annual Accounts Act.

The scope of the audit
Our examination of the statutory sustainability report has been conducted in accordance with FAR´s 
auditing standard RevR 12 The auditor´s report on the statutory sustainability report. This means 
that our examination of the statutory sustainability report is different and substantially less in scope 
than an audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing and generally  
accepted auditing standards in Sweden. We believe that the examination has provided us with  
sufficient basis for our opinion.

Opinion
A statutory sustainability report has been prepared.

Stockholm, 27 April 2018

Jonas Grahn, Authorized Public Accountant
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It will soon be time for the cycle rally, and Asma Akther and her friends are ex-
cited. It’s time to cycle around the streets of Thakurgaon to show that they’re 
wrong, those who doubt that girls should or can ride bikes. For the girls we 
meet in the project in northern Bangladesh, it now goes without saying: they 
have the same rights as boys. Once, one of them was told by a man that she 
shouldn’t ride a bike because she’s a girl.

“But then I answered him, ‘It’s my right to ride a bike because there are 
no differences between men and women’,” says Muslima Rahman Tamanna  
enthusiastically.

They are the  
people who are 

changing the 
world
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Muslima, Asma and the other girls all describe in various ways how they 
will respond when someone questions their right to ride a bike – as well as 
to move freely, study and choose who they will marry. Their answers have 
one thing in common – they intend to fight for their rights. They are the 
drops of water wearing away the stone. They are people who are changing 
the world.  

(Read more about our partner organization MKP’s work 
in Bangladesh on the next page).
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We’re building gender equality with bicycles. It 
can be done. You’re probably asking yourself how. 
Well, a girl who can ride a bike can move around 
more freely. With that comes more options, a sense 
of freedom and strength. A bike is a sustainable 
and economically efficient means of transport. 
With lower costs and safer transport to school, 
girls’ schooling is secured and the risks of child 
marriage are reduced. Bangladesh is one of the 
countries in the world with the highest number of 
child marriages. Over half of all girls under 18 are 
married and almost a fifth are married before they 
even reach the age of 15. In Thakurgaon our partner 
organization MKP works tirelessly for women’s 
rights. By teaching girls to ride bicycles, supporting 
women’s groups, through discussions with local 
politicians, head teachers, teachers and parents, 
they are stubbornly resisting fundamentalists and 
conservatives to make space for women and girls 
and respect for everyone’s rights. In 2017 Diakonia’s 
fight against injustices and for a sustainable, 
gender-equal world continued.

Join us as we move forward!

Diakonia is a member of the
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